

A REPORT BY THE

Public-Private Task Force on U.S.-Russian Health Cooperation

A QUIET FORCE

Health Cooperation in U.S.-Russian Relations

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT

FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace © 2013 All rights reserved

The Carnegie Endowment does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented here are the authors' own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Endowment, its staff, or its trustees.

For electronic copies of this report, visit:

CarnegieEndowment.org/pubs

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace 1779 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 Phone: + 202 483 7600

Fax: + 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

CONTENTS

Summary	1
Introduction	3
U.SRussian Public Health Cooperation From the Cold War to Today	.10
Bilateral Presidential Commission as a Tool for Cooperation	.13
Two Healthcare Systems in Transition	.17
The Public-Private Task Force on U.SRussian Health Cooperation	22
Strategic Resource Allocation Subcommittee	24
Healthy Lifestyles Subcommittee	32
Science Cooperation and Technology Transfer Subcommittee	38
Regulatory Convergence and Harmonization Subcommittee	45
Conclusion	50

About the Public-Private Task Force on U.SRussian Health Cooperation	52
Appendix: Task Force Participants	53
Notes	57
Carnegie Endowment for International Peace	63

SUMMARY

U.S.-RUSSIAN PUBLIC HEALTH COOPERATION has led to extraordinary achievements, from the development and production of the Sabin polio vaccine to the eradication of smallpox. But the full potential of this collaboration has not yet been achieved. Deeper bilateral engagement could drive innovation and economic growth for both countries and the world. Unlocking this latent power requires leadership, resources, know-how, and strong institutional foundations.

THE PUBLIC-PRIVATE TASK FORCE ON U.S.-RUSSIAN HEALTH COOPERATION

- The U.S.-Russia Bilateral Presidential Commission's Working Group on Health can play a central role in deepening U.S.-Russian health engagement.
- To support the commission's work, the Carnegie Endowment established the Public-Private Task Force on U.S.-Russian Health Cooperation.
- Subcommittees on strategic resource allocation, healthy lifestyles, science cooperation and technology transfer, and regulatory convergence and harmonization contributed to the task force's work.
- The task force issued a set of overarching strategic recommendations that cut across these four areas of focus, as well as specific recommendations in each area.

STRATEGIC RECOMMENDATIONS FOR U.S.-RUSSIAN HEALTH COOPERATION

Transform the relationship into one of equal partners. Russia and the United States should move past their post-Soviet donor-recipient relationship and address global health challenges as equal partners.

Find areas where interests align. Focusing on issues that affect multiple stakeholders, such as noncommunicable diseases, will attract the resources and know-how to advance the relationship.

Maintain the momentum of cooperation. Collaboration on a regular basis, not just during times of crisis, will help ensure effective responses at critical times.

Recognize the importance of Track II activities. Facilitating interactions such as peer-to-peer exchanges will build relationships that can produce real outcomes.

Encourage public-private cooperation. Collaboration across sectors will generate the optimal combination of political leadership, technological know-how, and resources.

Take advantage of regional- and state-level strengths. Establishing cooperative relationships at the state level in the United States and the regional level in Russia may help accelerate progress.

INTRODUCTION

COOPERATION ON HEALTHCARE and biomedical sciences has been a feature of U.S.-Russian relations since the early years of the Cold War. Even as tensions prevailed at political levels, scientific collaboration proceeded—leading, in some cases, to impressive results, such as the clinical trial and widespread use of the Sabin polio vaccine and the eradication of smallpox.¹ Over the years, U.S.-Russian health diplomacy has drawn praise for its ability to transcend high politics and unite the two countries around a common cause.

However, the full potential of U.S.-Russian health engagement has not yet been reached. The two countries possess unrivaled scientific resources that, if combined, could drive innovation and economic growth for both. Joint efforts to fight noncommunicable diseases—which include heart disease, diabetes, and cancer and are critical factors of mortality and morbidity in both countries—could improve and prolong the lives of tens of millions of Russian and American citizens. And with their combined population of 450 million, the United States and Russia are well positioned to become leaders in personalized medicine and gene therapies, which require access to large patient-data pools.

Importantly, successful U.S.-Russian health cooperation could have a ripple effect beyond the borders of these two countries—and even beyond health and science. At a time of unprecedented pandemic threats, Washington and Moscow can work together to become a powerful force in alleviating the suffering caused by disease worldwide while contributing to the creation of a more stable and prosperous world.

Unlocking this latent potential requires leadership, resources, know-how, and strong institutional foundations. As the two countries grapple with the crises in their respective

INSIGHTS FROM LEADERS AND PRACTITIONERS

"Health diplomacy is the great leveler which brings countries together in common cause, fighting one of humanity's most ancient and powerful foes: disease."

Dr. Peter I. Hartsock, captain, U.S. Public Health Service, research scientist officer, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health; member of the task force

healthcare systems, governmental institutions must join forces with private companies, nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), multilateral organizations, and other professional and community resources. Bilateral structures must be strengthened and supported.

Recognizing the unique possibilities inherent in health diplomacy, the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace established a task force to help move this cooperation forward. The task force was created in 2011 specifically to support the work of the Bilateral Presidential Commission (BPC), the coordinating body for bilateral cooperation between the two governments.

The task force, called the Public-Private Task Force on U.S.-Russian Health Cooperation, brought together a broad spectrum of stakeholders from both sides of the Atlantic to examine specific avenues of collaboration in healthcare. Members met for numerous workshops, presentations, and discussions over eighteen months. They set out to examine the two countries' healthcare systems, uncover key areas where the United States and Russia could work collaboratively, and devise specific initiatives to address those areas. (For the full list of participants, please see the Appendix.)

The task force formed four subcommittees to address four areas of focus:

- 1. Strategic resource allocation
- 2. Healthy lifestyles (focus on noncommunicable diseases)
- 3. Science cooperation and technology transfer
- 4. Regulatory convergence and harmonization

TASK FORCE RECOMMENDATIONS

The task force issued a set of overarching strategic recommendations that cut across all four areas of focus. In addition, the task force issued four sets of recommendations based on the subcommittees' work. (These will be discussed in more detail in the subsequent sections of the report.) The task force's strategic recommendations are:

- 1. Transform the relationship into one of equal partners. In the immediate post-Soviet period, as Russia struggled with the difficulties of transition, the United States' policy toward Russia took the form of economic, financial, and other types of assistance. It is now time for that donor-recipient relationship to give way to a new vision. Russia has signaled that it is ready to assume the role of an equal partner to the United States and a donor vis-à-vis other countries. The United States must acknowledge and honor that. The two countries must work as equal partners in addressing global health challenges.
- 2. **Find areas where interests align.** Issues such as the rising rates of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (TB), noncommunicable diseases, and the obesity epidemic can spur multiple stakeholders to take collaborative action. Focusing on these shared interests will attract the resources and the know-how that can help move the overall relationship forward.
- 3. **Maintain the momentum of cooperation.** The need for cooperation often only becomes apparent in times of crisis, such as global pandemics, and loses urgency at other times. But a crisis is not the time to begin building cooperation. Maintaining the momentum on a regular basis will help ensure effective responses at critical times.
- 4. **Recognize the importance of Track II activities.** Professional peer-to-peer exchanges have proven to be an important and successful mainstay of U.S.-Russian health cooperation. Continuing to facilitate these interactions will build relationships that can produce palpable outcomes.
- 5. **Encourage public-private cooperation.** Both sectors must work together to further the collaborative agenda. Only through such cooperation will the two sides generate the optimal combination of political leadership, technological know-how, and resources to move the relevant projects forward.
- 6. Take advantage of regional- and state-level strengths. Much creativity and original thinking in the realm of policymaking begin at the state level in the United States and the regional level in Russia. Establishing cooperative relationships at those levels wherever possible may help accelerate progress.

Top Recommendations for Strategic Resource Allocation

Ensuring the best quality of and access to preventive services, medical care, and prescription medications for diverse groups of populations requires resources. Strategic resource allocation, however, is a challenge for both Russia and the United States. Both countries' systems suffer from inefficiencies in this regard, but the complementary nature of many of these inefficiencies offers an opportunity for the two sides to learn from one another and work together to eliminate them.

The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of strategic resource allocation:

- 1. Build cooperation in the use of health information technology, telemedicine, and electronic medical records. Health information technology, or the framework for managing and securely exchanging health information across computer systems, can greatly improve the accuracy of diagnostic and therapeutic decisionmaking and support research efforts while improving access to health services and cutting costs. Electronic medical records, which digitize a patient's medical records so they can be easily shared throughout a single organization such as a hospital or a physician's office—and, ideally, across multiple organizations—can help eliminate costly errors. Telemedicine, or the provision of clinical care at a distance with the use of technology, can be particularly helpful in remote areas experiencing shortages of medical facilities and trained personnel. Using technology in this way is relatively new for both sides, and they could benefit from sharing their experience and approaches.
- 2. **Focus on evidence-based, prevention-oriented interventions.** Both the United States and Russia should focus on methods that have been shown in well-designed scientific studies to deliver early health benefits and prevent disease.
- Collaborate on joint immunization campaigns. Cooperating on joint vaccination campaigns could allow both countries to strengthen their global leadership positions.
- 4. **Explore joint projects in personalized medicine.** Personalized medicine is one of the most cutting-edge approaches in medicine. It offers an opportunity for both countries to contribute to a broad impact while leveraging medical and scientific experience and access to large pools of patient data.
- 5. Explore jointly how to broaden access to healthcare for underserved populations. Both the United States and Russia face issues related to access to healthcare coverage. Practitioners in both countries could benefit from professional peer-to-peer conversations on the subject.

- 6. Focus on cooperation in the area of emerging pandemic threats. As the world becomes more integrated, new pandemic threats will inevitably emerge. The United States and Russia have a good track record of working together in this area and should maintain this cooperation.
- 7. **Emphasize continuing medical education.** Exchanges in the area of continuing or postgraduate medical education have proven to be a successful area of collaboration for the two countries. They will remain important going forward. Today's technology, which provides a broad variety of opportunities for knowledge exchange, while reducing the need to travel, offers many new, cost-effective possibilities to pursue joint efforts in this area.

Top Recommendations for Healthy Lifestyles

Noncommunicable diseases create a tremendous burden on both the U.S. and Russian healthcare systems, reducing lifespans and quality of life for the two countries' citizens. Large scientific studies, published over several decades, consistently show that a healthier diet, increased physical activity, and smoking cessation can prevent a significant number of cases of coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and various types of cancers. Promoting healthy lifestyles is, therefore, imperative for both countries.

The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of healthy lifestyles:

- 1. Focus on prevention and early detection. Prevention is a central factor in lowering noncommunicable disease rates, yet both the U.S. and Russian systems prioritize managing, rather than preventing, disease. The two healthcare systems are largely oriented toward expensive hospital services and treatment of acute cases, while early-stage disease control has been shown to be more beneficial for the patient and society. One way to promote preventive care is to encourage strong links among the medical community, NGOs, the private sector, community organizations, health policy leaders, and policymakers. Both countries can learn from each other.
- 2. Cooperate on a targeted action program designed to reduce the burden of cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular mortality. Cardiovascular disease and strokes account overwhelmingly for the major causes of premature mortality in both the United States and Russia. The principal risk factors behind this record—cigarette smoking and unrecognized, untreated high blood pressure—are

well understood and amenable to intervention. Both countries could benefit from a well-designed cooperative program to prevent and treat hypertension, especially one that utilizes the successful experience gained in other parts of the industrialized world, while pursuing a parallel strategy to reduce cigarette smoking.

- 3. Continue cooperation on tobacco and alcohol control. Smoking and alcohol consumption levels are particularly troubling in Russia. The United States has had some very important successes in reducing smoking rates and can share its experience with Russia.
- 4. **Develop joint programs to promote healthy eating, exercise, and healthy lifestyle choices.** The United States has had some success promoting the culture of fitness and healthy lifestyles. But most Russians do a better job of incorporating physical activity into their daily lives than Americans. The two countries can learn from one another in this area.

Top Recommendations for Science Cooperation and Technology Transfer

Deeper engagement in the area of biomedical research and innovation holds tremendous possibilities for both countries.

The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of science cooperation and technology transfer:

- Continue cooperation on multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. The growth of multidrug-resistant TB worldwide has been one of the most troubling healthcare-related trends in recent decades. Russia suffers from particularly high rates of the disease.
 Washington and Moscow can benefit from making cooperation in this area a priority.
- 2. **Increase funding available for scientific research.** Funding opportunities exist for scientific research, both joint and unilateral, on both sides, but they are limited and sometimes not well publicized. Increasing funding and improving information dissemination in the United States and Russia on policies and funding opportunities are essential to moving joint research projects forward.
- 3. Facilitate networking among scientists to stimulate collaborative research projects. Scientific collaboration depends in large measure on scientists designing collaborative projects based on their interests. Networking opportunities and

- bilateral meetings can help build relationships among scientists, physicians, grant-makers, government representatives, and other stakeholders.
- 4. Develop new bilateral co-funding initiatives and programs. Washington and Moscow must be equally invested in joint research projects. Joint funding opportunities should be developed through co-funding agreements. Public-private funding support should be tapped as well, relying on both U.S. and Russian philanthropic organizations partnering with pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical device, and information technology companies.

Top Recommendations for Regulatory Convergence and Harmonization

Regulatory convergence and harmonization, which refers to developing streamlined guidelines across national standards to guarantee the production of safe and effective pharmaceuticals, is pivotal to ensuring the delivery of critically important medicines to patients and the development of new drugs.

The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of regulatory convergence and harmonization:

- 1. Create a platform for ongoing U.S.-Russian regulatory cooperation. While the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Russian regulatory agency Roszdravnadzor have formed a collaborative relationship through mutual visits, training, and capacity-building programs, a more solid platform for ongoing dialogue is needed. The example of the European Commission, whose regulatory agencies conduct twice-yearly meetings with their Russian counterparts to ensure that current issues are regularly addressed, may be instructive in this regard and should be studied.
- 2. Support the Russian pharmaceutical industry's move to good manufacturing practice standards. This is a critical precondition for Russia to build up its own competitive pharmaceutical sector. Russia has committed to move to good manufacturing practice standards, but it will require resources and know-how. The U.S. government and private companies have both, and they should become actively engaged in Russia's transition.
- 3. Lay the groundwork for mutual recognition of clinical trials conducted in the United States and Russia. A bilateral agreement on the mutual recognition of clinical trials conducted in the two countries would increase both international pharmaceutical investments in Russia and drug access for Russian citizens.

LOOKING FORWARD

The latent potential of U.S.-Russian engagement on healthcare is significant. Deeper bilateral engagement in this area would benefit not just Moscow and Washington but the world. Reaching this potential will take commitment and political will. The recommendations outlined in this report are meant to help unlock the potential for such cooperation.

U.S.-RUSSIAN PUBLIC HEALTH COOPERATION FROM THE COLD WAR TO TODAY

Healthcare cooperation between the two countries dates back to the 1950s, when the United States and the Soviet Union signed the Lacy-Zarubin agreement "on Exchanges in the Cultural, Technical and Educational Fields." The agreement outlined an exceptionally broad agenda of cooperation, including exchanges in science, technology, medicine, and public health. It proved a success, with hundreds of scholars and graduate students participating in exchanges over the years.²

During that time, scientific collaboration between the two countries led to extraordinary achievements in public health. The polio vaccine was developed by American scientist Albert Sabin and first put into mass production and application by Soviet scientist Mikhail Chumakov, paving the way for clinical trials in the United States. And collaboration between the United States and the Soviet Union in 1965–1977, under the umbrella of the World Health Organization, eradicated smallpox.³

As the Cold War drew to an end and Russia faced immediate economic and social challenges following the dissolution of the Soviet Union, healthcare cooperation assumed a humanitarian-assistance mode, driven to a considerable extent by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

(CDC). USAID allocated a significant portion of the total \$2.6 billion disbursed to Russia between 1991 and 2012 to local, regional, and national programs focused on infectious diseases (including HIV/AIDS—over 200 NGOs focusing on HIV/AIDS were funded), reproductive health, family planning, infant and child morbidity and mortality, child welfare, and programs to support orphaned children.⁴

The United States supplied the necessary vaccines and pharmaceuticals, helped restore local production of these materials in Russia, and assisted with addressing serious outbreaks of diphtheria and other infectious diseases.⁵ Important hospital partnerships and physician exchanges were launched, helping to send U.S. physicians to Russia and vice versa to facilitate professional exchanges and strengthen local medical facilities. Much work was done in the areas of micronutrient malnutrition, maternal and child health, access to quality healthcare, and mental health.6

At the same time, tremendous possibilities opened for the private sector as Russia continued to transition to a market economy. With Russia's \$400 billion and the United States' \$1.9 trillion import markets, many hoped for an active trade engagement between the two countries. Indeed, U.S.-Russian trade grew steadily, nearly doubling between 2009 and 2011, to reach \$43 billion in 2011.7 U.S. exports to Russia grew from \$2.6 billion in 1994 to \$8.3 billion in 2011. Russian exports to the United States grew almost tenfold, from \$3.2 billion in 1994 to \$34.6 billion in 2011.8 However, that is still relatively small, and there is much left to be accomplished in terms of diversifying the basket of trade.

INSIGHTS FROM LEADERS AND PRACTITIONERS

As recognized historically as well as proven by our own experience, health sector cooperation is a highly effective instrument for engagement generally. To realize this goal requires a truly cooperative exercise engaging professionals recognized as peers on both sides and the sharing of experience in both directions. Physician exchanges are a key ingredient."

Eduard Burger, Eurasian Medical Education Program; member of the task force

The healthcare market in particular is viewed as having great potential to help the countries boost and diversify this trade partnership. Russia's private healthcare market, which grows at 16 percent annually, is among the fastest growing in the world. It was estimated to be worth \$18 billion at the end of 2011 and is projected to grow to at least \$25 billion by 2014.9 Russia's biopharmaceutical market is estimated at \$17.5 billion, 10 making it one of the most attractive global markets for U.S. pharmaceutical companies.

There are some success stories. Medical-instrument manufacturers, for example, have had relative success exporting their products to Russia. Optic and medical instrumentation were among the top export categories from the United States to Russia in 2011, representing \$548 million of the \$8.3 billion worth of American goods exported to Russia. And Russian state investment funds such as RUSNANO and the Skolkovo Foundation have been making investments in U.S. biotechnology ventures with the goal of bringing their products and facilities to Russia.

Ongoing problems, however, hamper progress in this promising area. Despite the adoption of agreements on pharmaceutical development and sales, ¹² critics have asserted that the Russian government's current policies aimed at promoting the development of its domestic pharmaceutical industry are actually counterproductive. They note that Russia should be improving the investment climate, incentivizing competition, and generally creating a positive market environment for all players rather than erecting what they perceive as barriers to entry in the name of supporting local industry.

Until Russia's 2012 accession to the World Trade Organization, other issues included the absence of a basic free-trade-agreement framework. Enforcement of laws, regulations, and guidelines has been inconsistent. Companies have been frustrated by the lack of transparency in regard to the growing list of products set aside for local manufacturing—the so-called dry list, which favors domestically produced medicines over imported ones. The absence of good manufacturing practices (GMP) and good clinical practices (GCP) harmonization standards to ensure safe, effective, high-quality pharmaceuticals as well as persistent obstacles to long-term mutual research with Russian pharmaceutical companies have further retarded growth. The absence of GMP and GCP also preclude Russian companies from entering foreign markets, including the U.S. market.

Potential investors have cited Russia's lack of adequate protection for intellectual property rights, structural problems, and inefficient government regulations and policies, including the complicated and time-consuming customs regulations, as the main reasons for their unwillingness to invest.

In recent years, progress has also slowed in other aspects of cooperation. The number of professionals participating in peer-to-peer exchanges has declined. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) made a range of biomedical research grants available for Russian

scientists, but these generated a relatively low number of applications as a result of social, economic, and political factors. In 2012, USAID was asked to leave Russia under pressure from Russia's Foreign Ministry, and some of the programs and the NGOs it funded began to close, leaving future progress in doubt.14

BILATERAL PRESIDENTIAL **COMMISSION AS A TOOL** FOR COOPERATION

In the Soviet era, the overall relationship between the two countries was managed through a complex set of mechanisms, including high-level official summits and ministerial meetings. These had developed over decades and were a reflection of the times, which demanded a careful balancing of political and ideological tensions with productive cooperation.

With the dissolution of the Soviet Union and the end of the Cold War, that system became obsolete. A new mechanism for government-to-government dialogue needed to be created.

THE GORE-CHERNOMYRDIN COMMISSION

Responding to that need, in 1993 Russian President Boris Yeltsin and U.S. President Bill Clinton established a comprehensive bilateral commission designed to keep officials on both sides engaged with one another on an ongoing basis in the areas of the economy, energy, space, and science and technology, among others. The commission, which eventually came to be known as the Gore-Chernomyrdin Commission after U.S. Vice President Al Gore and Russian Prime Minister Viktor Chernomyrdin, served as an important tool for shaping cooperation in the new era.¹⁵

One of the commission's early successes in the area of health cooperation was the signing, in 1994, of the Bilateral Agreement between the Government of the U.S. and the Government of the Russian Federation on Cooperation in the Field of Health and Biomedical Research. The agreement served as a "legal foundation in the development of new U.S.-Russian collaboration on health and biomedical research." When the accord was later renewed through January 2004, it was viewed as "evidence of the willingness of both countries to deepen their commitment to achieve practical benefits for the improvement and protection of the health of their populations." ¹⁶

The Gore-Chernomyrdin Commission continued its work throughout the two Clinton terms. In the area of healthcare, it focused on the control of infectious diseases, including TB, HIV/AIDS, and sexually transmitted infections; access to quality care, including primary healthcare, preventive medicine, and particularly treatments for depression, substance abuse, alcoholism, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and hypertension at the primary healthcare level; and maternal and child health, including micronutrient malnutrition, reproductive health, and environmental health.¹⁷

As the United States went through the trauma of the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks and became enmeshed in wars in Afghanistan and Iraq, the relationship between Washington and Moscow lost some momentum. However, even during this period, strong and productive cooperation in healthcare continued, anchored by USAID, the CDC, the NIH, and various agencies in the Department of Health and Human Services in the United States and by the corresponding ministries in Russia.

THE BILATERAL PRESIDENTIAL COMMISSION

In July 2009, the Bilateral Presidential Commission was created by Russia and the United States as a working body tasked with improving coordination, addressing the challenges of an ongoing dialogue, and supporting cooperation in multiple areas. The establishment of the BPC was broadly viewed as a re-creation of an institutional foundation for the regularized and systematic contacts that had characterized the U.S.-Russian relationship for nearly half a century. Many saw in it an opportunity for U.S.-Russian relations to move beyond personalities and become grounded in institutions that would last beyond the specific administrations that created them.

In establishing the commission, U.S. President Barack Obama and Russian President Dmitry Medvedev called for more regular, institutionalized contacts that would help develop the relationship between the two governments "in a more structured and regular way." ²⁰ At a 2009 summit, the two signed a Memorandum of Understanding on Cooperation in the Field of Public Health and Medical Sciences. ²¹

The BPC has emerged as a valuable, albeit less than perfect, structure for managing U.S.-Russian cooperation across multiple areas. In keeping with the original vision, the commission focuses on deliverables. It enabled effective cooperation on a broad bilateral agenda, including nuclear security, arms control, missile defense, counterterrorism, and counternarcotics. It is viewed as having contributed to securing the invitation for Russia to join the World Trade Organization in the summer of 2012, implementing the New START Treaty, facilitating agreement on a number of amendments to the Plutonium Management and Disposition Agreement (the 123 Agreement), and deepening military cooperation, including in Afghanistan.²²

THE BPC WORKING GROUP ON HEALTH

The BPC Working Group on Health was originally co-chaired by U.S. Health and Human Services Secretary Kathleen Sebelius and the head of Russia's Ministry of Health and Social Development Tatyana Golikova. When Russia's ministry was restructured in the summer of 2012 into the Ministry of Social Development and the Ministry of Health, Dr. Veronika Skvortsova, formerly Golikova's deputy minister, took the reins as the new health minister and became Sebelius's co-chair.

The group promotes bilateral cooperation in four key areas: scientific collaboration, maternal and child health, healthy lifestyles, and global health. Among its specific achievements to date are a signed Protocol of Intent on Cooperation for the Global Eradication of Polio; a new memorandum of understanding between the NIH and the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, which has already generated the first joint U.S.-Russian grant competition on HIV/AIDS prevention science; and the establishment of Text4Baby, a project that delivers health information to mothers by mobile device to improve maternal and infant care in Russia. (Dr. Jill Biden, the wife of the U.S. Vice President Joseph Biden, showed her support for the latter by helping to announce the Text4Baby project in March 2011.²³)

Signing the Protocol of Intent on Malaria Control was an important milestone. The protocol represents a commitment by both countries to work together to end preventable child deaths from malaria. Cooperation will entail training and capacity building, evaluation, operational research, and collaboration with other partners on global malaria control. The protocol is important as a signal that both countries are ready to transcend the donor-recipient paradigm that has prevailed throughout the post-Soviet period, which saw Russia primarily as the recipient of aid disbursed by the United States, and work as equal partners to resolve one of the key global public health issues.²⁴ The recent USAID departure from Russia, however, has created uncertainty about the future of these malaria-control initiatives, as new sources of funding will now be required.

In addition, the working group has reported facilitating cooperation on a range of bilateral tobacco-reduction programs, including QuitNowText, a mobile text-messaging program that delivers motivational tips to smokers planning to quit. It has also established joint biomedical research programs; maternal and child mortality programs, including use of innovative technologies in the care of premature babies; and programs related to health outcomes of babies born as a result of assisted reproductive technologies. Joint projects are also under way to study the epidemiology of obesity and reduce the incidence of alcoholism.²⁵

While the BPC Working Group on Health has several important achievements under its belt, some of its other key initiatives have hardly moved past the initial stage. In 2012 in particular, active engagement by the two sides in education, exploration of key issues, as well as tangible policy implementation, lost momentum. As USAID departed from Russia, concern grew in the United States that healthcare cooperation with Russia would stall.

Relations between Russia and the United States entered a new stage following the 2012 elections in both countries. This shift presents a unique opportunity for the BPC to strengthen its position in the U.S.-Russian dialogue and reengage both sides to move its agenda forward. Its record of achievements to date suggests that it is capable of providing a solid-enough foundation to support the hoped-for continuity and progress in the dialogue, even at times of political change. The Working Group on Health, in particular, has much to offer in terms of advancing cooperation.

INSIGHTS FROM LEADERS AND PRACTITIONERS

"The more we work together, the faster we will be able to test new strategies, learn what works, and implement them in our own communities."

Secretary of Health and Human Services Kathleen Sebelius²⁶

TWO HEALTHCARE SYSTEMS IN TRANSITION

While the Russian and U.S. healthcare systems have their own sets of challenges, some of the social and public health issues that the two societies must confront are similar. Both face a growing aging and dependent population that suffers from a high incidence of chronic illness caused by a variety of social and lifestyle factors. Both are challenged by fragmentation and inefficiencies that increase the cost burden on their respective economies and create disparities in access to quality care. And both must reeducate their populations and incentivize providers to focus on prevention and wellness.

Equal access to quality care is an acute problem for both systems, although the underlying reasons are different. Many Russians lack access to care either because they live in a rural area or because they cannot afford prescription medication, which the state-funded programs do not cover. Some 48 million Americans lack access to care because they cannot afford to buy insurance.

At the same time, Russia in particular faces some unique challenges. In the past twenty years, it has had to redesign its entire healthcare system from a highly centralized one, where the state controlled every aspect of healthcare, to a more decentralized system that has to respond to market forces and incorporate private actors. As Russia continues with this process, it has the advantage of learning from the world's best practices and worst mistakes. Rather than adopting methods and policies that may have proven only marginally effective elsewhere, the country can think outside the established paradigms and develop more advanced and, potentially, more effective solutions.

THE RUSSIAN HEALTHCARE SYSTEM

Over the past twenty years, the Russian healthcare system has grappled with the country's transition to a market economy just as the Russian population's health profile shifted dramatically in response to social, economic, and lifestyle changes. Russia's health statistics are among the worst of all countries in the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). Russia lags behind the other OECD countries in life expectancy

by nearly ten years. In OECD countries with similar levels of income per capita, such as Chile and Poland, life expectancy is seven years higher than it is in Russia.²⁷

Noncommunicable diseases account for 90 percent of all deaths in Russia.²⁸ In 2008, cardiovascular disease caused 57 percent of Russian deaths (compared to 35 percent for all OECD countries), while cancer caused 14 percent. Digestive and respiratory diseases followed at 4.3 and 3.8 percent, respectively. So-called external factors, such as acute alcohol poisoning, traffic accidents, suicides, and violent crimes, caused 11.8 percent of Russian deaths.²⁹

The Soviet healthcare system was built on the so-called Semashko model, which featured a hierarchical and centralized structure that prioritized fighting infectious disease. The model proved effective for some time, excelling at infectious-disease prevention through population-wide vaccination campaigns. It also offered access to a basic level of care for all citizens. However, as the Soviet system entered a period of stagnation, the healthcare system also inevitably began to decline. Resulting underinvestment led to a precipitous decline in the quality of care, as hospitals grappled with shortages of drugs, medical equipment, and even hot running water.³⁰

With the fall of the Soviet Union, the healthcare system became increasingly decentralized, and responsibility for the provision of healthcare was delegated to the regions. The issue of healthcare financing came to the fore. Moscow passed legislation establishing a national compulsory health insurance mechanism and provisions for private insurance.

At the same time, Russia remained committed to the government guarantee of free basic healthcare—a commitment that was enshrined in article 41 of the Russian constitution adopted in 1993. It stated that every Russian citizen "shall have the right to health protection and medical aid" and that this aid shall be rendered gratis in state and municipal establishments. The article also described how the government was to meet this obligation:

In the Russian Federation federal programmes of protecting and strengthening the health of the population shall be financed by the State; measures shall be adopted to develop state, municipal and private health services; activities shall be promoted which facilitate the strengthening of health, the development of physical culture and sport, ecological and sanitary-epidemiological well-being.³¹

Today, there is a sense that public sector financing may be adequate to cover the guarantee at its most basic level. Private insurance options exist, albeit in a rudimentary form. One of the biggest challenges now is how to allocate the resources efficiently. The system needs to be restructured to effect a shift toward primary care and prevention—a top priority for the government. It is hoped that this will reduce traditional reliance on lengthy

hospital stays. (In 2007, 60 percent of Russia's total healthcare spending went to inpatient care—almost twice the OECD average of 34.2 percent.)

State-run medical facilities, which comprise 95 percent of all such facilities in Russia,³² are underfinanced and lack key resources, including medical and technical equipment and supplies, making them uncompetitive in terms of care compared to new, private market entrants. Meanwhile, the majority of the population cannot afford private care and the high out-of-pocket payments that are often required even at state-run institutions to access better equipment, purchase medications not covered by government guarantee, and make informal payments to bypass typically long wait lists and gain faster access to a consultation. Complicating the situation is the vast size of the country and the geographic unevenness in the availability and quality of medical services.

Although there are more than 300 private and numerous public insurers in the Russian market, real competition for patients is rare, leaving most patients with little or no effective choice of insurer. (In many places, patients have little choice in healthcare providers as well.) Insurance companies have failed to develop as active, informed purchasers of healthcare services. Most are passive intermediaries, making a profit by simply channeling money from regional funds to healthcare providers.

Over the past decade, the government has consistently named public health among the top items on its agenda. A series of high-level initiatives has been undertaken. In 2006, Russia launched a National Priority Project on health. The program aims to improve the overall performance of Russia's health system, improve the health of Russian citizens,

INSIGHTS FROM LEADERS AND PRACTITIONERS

"We have spoken about some positive trends in the healthcare system and we have something to show for it. Yet the average lifespan in our country is 8-10 years lower than in neighboring European countries, the death rate from cardiovascular diseases is 4–5 times higher.... A quarter of all the medical facilities in the Russian Federation are in need of overhaul."

Vladimir Putin, president of the Russian Federation³³

increase the availability and quality of health services, develop primary care, reorient the system toward prevention, and increase the role of cutting-edge technologies and information technologies in healthcare. The program prioritizes continuing education of primary care physicians, salary increases for healthcare workers, and the construction of fifteen regional specialized medical centers.³⁴

In 2009, the Russian government adopted the Healthcare Development Concept to 2020, a program aimed at improving Russia's longevity figures and reducing Russians' mortality rate. The program zeroed in on noncommunicable diseases as the primary source of Russia's high mortality rates and set specific goals for reducing their incidence.³⁵

In 2010, Russia adopted the Federal Target Program "Strategy for the Development of the Pharmaceutical Industry," also known as Pharma-2020. The program was designed to encourage the transition of Russia's pharmaceutical industry to a so-called innovative development model.

The government has also allocated financial reserves to help domestic industry transition to GMP standards. Domestic companies are being incentivized to develop and produce innovative medicines with the goal of creating import substitutes, improving access to the latest therapies for patients, and facilitating the modernization of the Russian healthcare market by providing Russia with next-generation pharmaceuticals, medical devices, and diagnostic products.³⁶

Some experts assert, however, that this top-heavy focus creates inefficiencies in the system. The government is pouring more money into this approach, but there are no safeguards to ensure efficient spending, and there are no incentives to ensure quality of care and accountability for outcomes. These realities breed concern that government spending will be less effective than is hoped.

THE U.S. HEALTHCARE SYSTEM

The U.S. healthcare system also faces a series of challenges. An estimated 1 million Americans suffer from chronic conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, and arthritis. Over 30 percent of adults aged eighteen to thirty-four, two-thirds of adults aged forty-five to sixty-four, and nearly 90 percent of the elderly have at least one chronic disease. Chronic disorders account for 75 percent of direct medical care costs in the United States. Of

these, five illnesses—diabetes, congestive heart failure, coronary artery disease, asthma, and depression—account for most of the costs, with two other chronic illnesses, obesity and tobacco addiction, contributing as well.³⁷

Researchers predict that by 2020, more than 50 percent of the U.S. adult population will have type 2 diabetes or prediabetes, with annual treatment costs approaching \$500 billion. By 2030, total annual economic costs of cardiovascular disease in the United States are predicted to exceed \$1 trillion.³⁸

The high prevalence of noncommunicable diseases has put a tremendous burden on the U.S. economy. Total health expenditures in the United States have grown steadily for years, from \$724 billion in 1990 (12.5 percent of GDP) to an estimated \$2.6 trillion in 2010 (17.9 percent of GDP), and they are projected to reach \$4.8 trillion (19.8 percent of GDP) in 2020.³⁹ By contrast, energy consumption—another hotly debated item in the U.S. budget—has risen from \$472.5 billion in 1990 to \$1.2 trillion yet remained a relatively constant 8.3 percent of GDP.⁴⁰ In 2005, the CDC estimated that chronic diseases accounted for 75 percent of total healthcare spending.

The U.S. government is in the process of implementing the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, commonly known as Obamacare or the ACA. The ACA expands the coverage of government insurance programs Medicare and Medicaid, prohibits insurance companies from discriminating against applicants with preexisting conditions, and mandates health insurance for all citizens.

However, the reform will do nothing to fix some of the fundamental problems plaguing the American healthcare system. One of these is the fact that the system is built on a feeper-service basis, which creates a perverse system of incentives—patients pay for services rendered rather than outcomes, financially incentivizing providers to favor expensive procedures instead of simple, inexpensive solutions and prevention-oriented care. And until the problem of the high rate of uninsured is resolved, it will continue to translate into the overuse of emergency rooms and the use of more expensive services as people delay their doctor visits until the illness has progressed to a late stage and requires more aggressive treatment.

Officials struggle with how to encourage providers to keep costs down, help those in lower-income brackets acquire healthcare, deploy electronic medical records to reduce fragmentation and inefficiencies, and allow patients to access information concerning their own personal health records as well as success rates of doctors and hospitals.

THE PUBLIC-PRIVATE TASK FORCE ON U.S.-RUSSIAN HEALTH COOPERATION

With official encouragement from both sides, the Russia and Eurasia Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace gathered a group of decisionmakers from government, senior industry executives, and representatives of the research community to form a public-private task force on U.S.-Russian health cooperation in support of the BPC's Working Group on Health.

The first meeting of the task force took place in May 2011. During the meeting, participants outlined existing challenges and obstacles to effective U.S.-Russian health cooperation and agreed that supplementing the intergovernmental dialogue with participation from NGOs, the private sector, and the expert community could help produce real and quantifiable results and move the dialogue forward. Nikolai Gerasimenko, first deputy chairman of the Russian State Duma Committee for Health, and John Steele, director of International Government Affairs at the global pharmaceutical company Eli Lilly, were appointed task force co-chairs.

The task force included four subcommittees, which were formed with the goal of producing targeted policy recommendations in four key subject areas:

- Strategic resource allocation
- Healthy lifestyles (focused on noncommunicable diseases)
- Science cooperation and technology transfer
- Regulatory convergence and harmonization

The task force held four substantive meetings, one for each area of focus. Numerous additional workshops and discussions also took place, resulting in a series of recommendations for the Russian and U.S. governments, private sectors, NGOs, and scientific and medical communities.

INSIGHTS FROM LEADERS AND PRACTITIONERS

The goal of the "For Healthy Life" forums is to change the population's perspective on healthcare from orientation to treatment toward prevention and healthy lifestyle."

> Nikolai Gerasimenko, founder of the For Healthy Life Forum and co-chairman of the task force⁴¹

Several task force members also collaborated with Gerasimenko to develop the For Healthy Life program. The program was formally launched at a high-profile forum on noncommunicable diseases held in Kazan in October 2012 and is geared toward preventing and managing noncommunicable diseases, reducing the mortality rate, and increasing life expectancy throughout the Russian Federation. The forums will be conducted in each of the Russian Federation's eight federal districts over the next four years.

Speaking at the Kazan forum, task force chairman Gerasimenko addressed the 600 participants on the prevention of noncommunicable diseases, emphasizing that the goal of the forums was to shift the healthcare paradigm from disease management to prevention and wellness.⁴² A number of top-level government officials attended the event, including Minister Skvortsova, Tatarstan President Rustam Minnikhanov, First Deputy Chairman of the State Duma of the Russian Federation Alexander Zhukov, and President of the Russian Academy of Medicine Ivan Dedov. Leading Russian researchers and clinicians presented their views and internationally adopted strategies on prevention of cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, cancer, and diabetes. Representatives of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the U.S. embassy also participated.

STRATEGIC RESOURCE ALLOCATION SUBCOMMITTEE

AREAS OF FOCUS

Both the U.S. and Russian systems suffer from inefficiencies in healthcare resource allocation. Although the inefficiencies show up somewhat differently in each, many are complementary, which offers an opportunity for the two sides to learn from one another. Russia, in particular, has the chance to avoid some of the drawbacks and excesses characteristic of the American system while learning from U.S. best practices.

Fragmentation

Both systems suffer from fragmentation. In Russia, this comes from the historic emphasis on specialization in medical practice and the prevailing belief among the population that primary care physicians offer poor-quality care. Patients, therefore, often self-diagnose and bypass primary care physicians, going straight to a specialist, resulting in a lack of coordination of care. The system is fragmented geographically, with access to and quality of care varying dramatically from region to region. This is a particularly acute problem for rural areas. Regulatory inefficiency contributes to the problem, with responsibility for quality of care poorly divided among federal and regional regulatory bodies.

In the United States, multitudes of providers and insurance options create inefficiency and replication in care and services rendered. The Institute of Medicine, an independent adviser to the U.S. government and the American public that is part of the National Academy of Sciences, reports that 30 cents of every dollar spent on healthcare in the United States is wasted. The 2009 data show that \$210 billion was spent on "unnecessary services, like repeated tests, and \$130 billion was spent on inefficiently delivered services, like a scan performed in a hospital rather than an outpatient center." On top of that, the system spent "\$190 billion on paperwork and unnecessary administrative costs," \$75 billion on fraud, and \$55 billion on "missed prevention opportunities."

Some in the United States are trying to address this issue by developing the Patient Centered Medical Home model. This model is intended to be both a physical place and a system of organizing patient care. It seeks to centralize and systematize care by ensuring that primary care physicians coordinate patient treatment. The goal is to integrate all of the patient's needs and respond to them in a centralized and efficient manner. There is particular emphasis on ensuring clear and productive communication among the patient, patient's family, and the provider. The system relies on the use of health information technology, electronic medical records, and other means to ensure the best care. 44

Both countries are attempting to diminish fragmentation by creating standardized, integrated electronic medical record systems. These systems enable a patient to move from provider to provider without having to replicate costly diagnostic procedures, as patients' full records and test results become available to all successive clinicians treating them. However, even as major hospital systems in the United States have begun to implement electronic medical records, each tends to create its own proprietary system that is inaccessible to others. This means that a patient's records in one institution are nontranslatable into another.

Russia is working to implement a nationwide, computerized, universal electronic medical records system for all public health records. Here, Russia's experience with a centralized medical system may give it an advantage over the United States. Implementing a system that encompasses every market player in the United States is an impossible task for the U.S. government.

If banking were like health care, automated teller machine transactions would take not seconds but perhaps days or longer as a result of unavailable or misplaced records. If homebuilding were like health care, carpenters, electricians and plumbers each would work with different blueprints, with very little coordination."

U.S. Institute of Medicine⁴⁵

Quality Control

Another challenge for the U.S. healthcare system is a lack of access to performance records and statistics for hospitals, clinics, and doctors. Without easy access to this information, patients are unable to make informed decisions about healthcare providers.

The government has sought to address this challenge in the one area where it has control—the Medicare and Medicaid programs. One of the provisions of the ACA seeks to tie provider reimbursements to quality metrics and reductions in total cost of care by creating affordable care organizations. These organizations bring together providers and suppliers of services, and their members are expected to coordinate with one another in an effort to eliminate duplication of efforts and deliver seamless services for the beneficiaries. 46

Quality control is also a concern for Russia, where multiple new providers have proliferated, while traditional state-run hospitals are often underfinanced and lack necessary equipment. It remains to be seen how the Russian government will tackle this challenge.

Use of Drugs and Services

Whereas Russia experiences a shortage of lifesaving drugs and a lack of public reimbursement for prescription drugs, there is a growing constituency in the U.S. medical community arguing that Americans overmedicate. ⁴⁷ Prolonged and intensive drug use frequently results in additional health problems. For example, a recent study found that prolonged insulin therapy was "associated with an increased risk of diabetes-related complications, cancer, and all-cause mortality" in some type 2 diabetes patients. ⁴⁸ In another study, statins were found to increase the risk of diabetes in post-menopausal women by 48 percent. ⁴⁹ Overprescription of psychotropic medication for active-duty soldiers and wounded warriors in particular has been scrutinized recently after it was revealed that prescription drugs were involved in one-third of the record 162 suicides by active-duty soldiers in 2009. ⁵⁰

In a similar vein, while Russian doctors often lack critically important diagnostic equipment, there are influential voices in the United States that argue the system overuses diagnostic procedures without delivering corresponding benefits to the patient.⁵¹

Russia is currently investigating how it can make prescription drugs more available to the patients who need them the most while continuing to reorient the population toward making healthy lifestyle choices. To that end, the Ministry of Health is in the process of implementing several drug-reimbursement pilot projects, expected to be carried out in 2015–2016 in select regions.⁵²

Our task, as we go about implementing the pilot projects, is to find the mechanisms that will engage a more responsible attitude to one's health, encourage regular visits to the doctor, support a healthy life style, and move away from bad habits."

Igor Kagramanyan, deputy health minister of the Russian Federation⁵³

The U.S. Medicare prescription drug benefit, also known as Medicare Part D, may serve as a model for Russia as it explores different options. Enacted in 2006, the program offers varying levels of drug prescription benefits to Medicare beneficiaries. Generally, not all drugs are covered at the same levels, incentivizing participants to choose certain drugs over others.54

While the program has drawn significant criticism, a survey by the AARP, the nonprofit association representing the interests of U.S. retirees, demonstrated that one year after the benefit was introduced, 85 percent of enrollees were satisfied with their drug plan while 78 percent believed that they had made a good choice in selecting their plan.⁵⁵

Care for the Sick Versus Prevention and Wellness

Harvard Business School professor Clayton Christensen points out in his book The Innovator's Prescription: A Disruptive Solution for Healthcare that a key contributor to the high cost of chronic illness is the fact that hospitals and physicians' practices are set up to care for the sick rather than to keep patients well:

There are more than 9,000 billing codes for individual procedures and units of care. But there is not a single billing code for patient adherence or improvement, or for helping patients stay well.⁵⁶

Christensen argues that as long as this business model persists, the costs of healthcare will never be curtailed.

In Russia, too, today's medical system is oriented largely toward costly approaches to disease management. Prolonged hospital stays are typical and are used at a much higher rate than elsewhere. Allocating resources toward prevention and better ways to manage chronic illness, which can help forestall unnecessary hospitalizations and acute care, can become a source of considerable savings.

Medical Personnel

Both countries face an oversupply of some medical personnel and a shortage of others—most importantly, they lack primary care physicians. In the United States, this is due to financial incentives—being a specialist is a far more lucrative occupation. In Russia, the problem is more subtle, having to do with the public's perception that primary care physicians are less competent than specialists. No matter the reason, self-diagnosis and the resulting overuse of specialists in Russia creates massive inefficiencies in the system. It also diminishes the role of primary care physicians, leading to an even greater shortage in both countries.

Medical personnel in the United States enjoy some of the country's highest salaries. In Russia, by contrast, the salaries of medical personnel are 30 percent below the average salary throughout the country.⁵⁷ Russian doctors, the vast majority of whom are employed by state-run medical facilities (95 percent of all medical facilities in Russia are in the public sector),⁵⁸ also receive lower salaries than their OECD counterparts when compared to the rest of public sector workers. While Russian doctors' salaries are 1.5 times the average wage in the public sector in Russia, in OECD countries, general practitioners are paid 2.5 times and specialists three times the average public employee salary.⁵⁹

Delayed Treatments

In both systems, citizens wait too long to seek medical treatment. In Russia this often has to do with lack of access (particularly in rural areas) and inability to make the extra payments that are often required to supplement the basic services guaranteed by the government, including those for prescription medications, high-tech procedures, and informal payments to providers. Over 80 percent of the Russian population is dissatisfied with the quality of care. As a result, people fail to turn to the healthcare system, often only doing so when hospitalization is needed.⁶⁰

In the United States, the problem is similar in nature: the high rates of uninsured mean that people cannot afford to pay for the services and often delay visiting the doctor until the disease has progressed to a late stage. Overreliance on employer-provided health insurance exacerbates the problem, particularly during economic downturns. As employers shift an increasing amount of healthcare costs to their employees—or shed workers altogether, leaving them without insurance—people begin to delay medical visits.

TASK FORCE RECOMMENDATIONS

Ensuring strategic resource allocation will require both strategic and tactical approaches. New and creative thinking may be necessary to bypass areas of inefficiency and design new solutions. To create meaningful change, some entrenched modes of thinking and acting may need to be overhauled. This, in turn, will require innovative financing approaches and data management systems.

To that end, the task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of strategic resource allocation:

- 1. Build cooperation in the use of health information technology, telemedicine, and electronic medical records. Health information technology, or the framework for managing and securely exchanging health information across computer systems, can greatly improve the accuracy of diagnostic and therapeutic decisionmaking and support research efforts while improving access to health services and cutting costs. Electronic medical records, which digitize a patient's medical records so they can be easily shared throughout a single organization such as a hospital or a physician's office—and, ideally, across multiple organizations—can help eliminate costly errors. Telemedicine, or the provision of clinical care at a distance with the use of technology, can be particularly helpful in remote areas experiencing shortages of medical facilities and trained personnel. Using technology in this way is relatively new for both sides, and they could benefit from sharing their experience and approaches.
- 2. Focus on evidence-based, prevention-oriented interventions. Both the United States and Russia should focus on methods that have been shown in well-designed scientific studies to deliver early health benefits and prevent disease.
- 3. Collaborate on joint immunization campaigns. Cooperating on joint vaccination campaigns could allow both countries to strengthen their global leadership positions.
- 4. Explore joint projects in personalized medicine. Personalized medicine is one of the most cutting-edge approaches in medicine. It offers an opportunity for both countries to contribute to a broad impact while leveraging medical and scientific experience and access to large pools of patient data.

- 5. Explore jointly how to broaden access to healthcare for underserved populations. Both the United States and Russia face issues related to access to healthcare coverage. Practitioners in both countries could benefit from professional peer-to-peer conversations on the subject.
- 6. Focus on cooperation in the area of emerging pandemic threats. As the world becomes more integrated, new pandemic threats will inevitably emerge. The United States and Russia have a good track record of working together in this area and should maintain this cooperation.
- 7. **Emphasize continuing medical education.** Exchanges in the area of continuing or postgraduate medical education have proven to be a successful area of collaboration for the two countries. They will remain important going forward. Today's technology, which provides a broad variety of opportunities for knowledge exchange, while reducing the need to travel, offers many new, cost-effective possibilities to pursue joint efforts in this area.

The task force recommended the following specific initiatives be undertaken collaboratively by a combination of private and public stakeholders in the two countries:

- 1. Establish a bilateral task force of public and private experts to explore how best to provide universal healthcare by utilizing a mix of public and private financing. Consider conducting a pilot project in a designated region or state.
- 2. Place more emphasis on disease prevention and the complications of underlying diseases.
- 3. Improve cost-effectiveness of medical interventions. In Russia, insurance providers currently have no incentive to contain costs. A shift to covering preventive treatment would be an economical measure in the long term as well as the right decision for patients' welfare.
- 4. Conduct studies on medical mistakes made within the healthcare services of both countries and disseminate the information to educate practitioners.
- 5. Address the significant regional differences in access to medical services and prescription drugs. These are particularly notable in the economically depressed and rural areas of both countries. This may be achieved in part by reviewing the results of Medicare Part D in the United States and discussing it as a possible model for expanding prescription drug access in Russia.

- 6. Establish a bilateral task force on aid programs to the developing world to treat rare and communicable diseases and potentially noncommunicable diseases there. Russia has moved in recent years to recapture the position of a global donor and doing so is an important item on Minister Skvortsova's agenda. Global health is also one of the BPC Health Working Group's focus areas. A bilateral task force can help support these goals.
- 7. Strengthen the role of primary care physicians in patient care. Explore having the primary "district physicians" in Russia achieve greater responsibility and providing economic incentives. Nine to ten Russian regions, including Perm, Samara, Kaliningrad, and Khabarovsk, have already adopted this approach.
- 8. Explore the applicability of emerging payment policies that bundle payments to all the providers (for example, primary care physicians, specialists, and hospitals) to encourage coordination and quality of care. The U.S. experience with accountable care organizations can be used as a model.
- 9. Explore coordination and patient compliance incentives, such as "pay for performance" and/or "pay for compliance" approaches as supplementary policies to further encourage quality of care.
- 10. Provide continuing medical education to primary physicians. Train highly skilled nurses within the primary care system to take on more routine aspects of care to enable physicians to focus on exercising their high-value-added skills, such as medical diagnosis.
- 11. Study best practices and experience on both sides to draw the best recommendations for developing and deploying telemedicine to rural areas in the most effective way possible—an important cost-saving measure.
- 12. Improve accessibility and transparency of statistical data on issues such as hospital performance evaluations and the cost of medical services to ensure the best return on investment.
- 13. Encourage the critical review of medical evidence and the use of that evidence in medical practice to promote more targeted and personalized treatments in both Russia and the United States.

HEALTHY LIFESTYLES SUBCOMMITTEE

AREAS OF FOCUS

The First Global Ministerial Conference on Healthy Lifestyles and Noncommunicable Disease Control, which took place in Moscow on April 28–29, 2011, stated in its official declaration that "a paradigm shift is imperative in dealing with NCD [noncommunicable disease] challenges, as NCDs are caused not only by biomedical factors, but also caused or strongly influenced by behavioral, environmental, social and economic factors." Populations in both the U.S. and Russia are being forced to confront this reality.

Obesity

Obesity is a concern for both countries, although the United States by far outpaces Russia in terms of its obesity epidemic. Obesity has been linked with heart disease, strokes, and type 2 diabetes, among other diseases. More than one-third of U.S. adults (35.7 percent) are overweight or obese. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated that obesity-related conditions resulted in \$147 billion in medical costs in 2008.⁶²

The epidemic also affects children, as childhood obesity rates in America have tripled over the past thirty years. Today, nearly one in three American children is overweight or obese and therefore at greater risk for diabetes and other obesity-related health problems such as heart disease, high blood pressure, cancer, and asthma.⁶³

Russia, while still nowhere near the United States, nevertheless faces a creeping obesity problem. Among Russians between twenty-five and sixty-four years of age, 47–54 percent of men and 42–60 percent of women are overweight. Of these, 15–20 percent are obese.⁶⁴

Nutrition

Proper nutrition is a critical aspect of both obesity management and disease prevention. The World Health Organization states that about one-third of all cardiovascular disease is caused by improper nutrition. In particular, consumption of fruits and vegetables has been shown to be critical to containing the disease. While Russia's per-capita

consumption of produce grew by 27 percent between 1995 and 2007, it is still much lower than in France and Italy, two countries with low levels of mortality from cardiovascular disease 65

American diets are also poor in quality because of a prevalence of high-fat, high-sugar processed foods. Mark Hyman, a physician who has become one of the most prominent critics of American dietary habits, writes: "The average American consumes 24 pounds of French fries, 23 pounds of pizza, 24 pounds of ice cream, 53 gallons of soda (or a gallon each week), 24 pounds of artificial sweeteners, 2.7 pounds of salt, 90,700 milligrams of caffeine annually, and about 2,700 calories a day."66

Both populations must confront the reality and consequences of poor nutrition choices.

Smoking and Alcohol

Smoking and alcohol abuse are a concern in both countries, but in Russia the problem is particularly acute. Smoking has significantly declined in the United States and Europe over the last few decades, but it increased by 87 percent in Russia between 1985 and 2006. Almost twice as many Russian adults smoke as in OECD countries on average.⁶⁷ Sixty-three percent of Russian men, 30 percent of women, 40 percent of teenage boys, and 7 percent of teenage girls smoke. The OECD estimates that tobacco kills between 300,000 and 500,000 Russians per year.⁶⁸

Alcohol consumption is estimated to kill, either directly or indirectly, half a million Russians per year. 69 It is particularly troubling that drinking and smoking habits take root in Russian society at a very early age.

But there is progress being made. Russian authorities are beginning to put in place new policies to reduce tobacco smoking and alcohol abuse.⁷⁰ The Ministry of Health has adopted the promotion of a healthy lifestyle as one of its main priorities. As of July 2012, advertising of alcohol and tobacco was banned in all media in Russia, including on the Internet, public transportation, and billboards. In addition, President Putin has signed into law a ban on smoking in some public places, including schools and subways, and, at a later stage, in restaurants and cafes. It will also severely restrict cigarette sales.⁷²

The Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids has had success working with representatives of the Russian private sector and advocating that employers ban smoking at workplaces. Companies like the Russian airline Aeroflot and the Moscow Metro rapid transit system signed a document signaling their support.⁷³

The Russian government has begun to impose an excise tax on alcoholic beverages with the goal of reducing alcohol consumption. At the beginning of 2012, Russia increased its beer tax by 20 percent. It plans to raise the tax by 25 percent in 2013 and an additional 20 percent in 2014.⁷⁴ In July 2012, the new excise tax raised the price of vodka by 30 percent.⁷⁵ And in August 2012, Deputy Prime Minister Arkady Dvorkovich urged faster growth in the excise taxes.⁷⁶

Exercise

The myriad benefits of exercise include helping control weight; reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, and some cancers; and improving one's mental health and mood.⁷⁷ In recent years, high-profile government initiatives in both Russia and the United States have drawn attention to the importance of exercise.

In the United States, First Lady Michelle Obama launched the Let's Move! initiative in 2010 with the aim of reducing childhood obesity within a generation. In launching the initiative, Mrs. Obama stated that "the physical and emotional health of an entire generation and the economic health and security of our nation is at stake."

In the same vein, the National Football League's Play 60 initiative also targets the child-hood obesity epidemic. Play 60 is a national youth campaign that draws on the power of celebrity football players to influence the behavior of their youngest fans. The players challenge kids to stay active for at least sixty minutes a day. The campaign builds alliances with in-school and after-school programs, thus affecting change at the grassroots level.⁷⁸

In Russia, the Health and Development Foundation, formerly known as Healthy Russia, was created some ten years ago with the support of the Russian Ministry of Health, the Ministry of Education and Science, and the Ministry of Sport, Tourism, and Youth Policy. Formed as an NGO, the foundation works in partnership with universities and the private sector, including the pharmaceutical companies Johnson & Johnson, Merck Pharmaceuticals, and GlaxoSmithKline, to conduct educational and outreach programs to improve the health and healthy life skills of the Russian population.⁷⁹

Organizations such as the Health and Development Foundation, however, face an uphill battle in Russia, where the long-standing popularity of sports and athletics has not translated into a grassroots fitness and wellness culture. For real change to take place, stakeholders need to work together to help create a cultural shift that makes wellness, including physical fitness, a value and priority for Russian citizens.

Role of Private Companies

In recent years, employers in the United States have started to heed recommendations to support their employees' wellness and prevention efforts. This, in part, has to do with the fact that employers are typically the ones providing health insurance to employees and are therefore more acutely aware of the cost-effectiveness of prevention.

In recent years, companies have started sponsoring weight-loss and fitness competitions among their employees, replacing junk food snacks with healthier options, offering free disease screening, and supporting their employees' efforts to quit smoking. Some companies provide access to exercise equipment or offer free gym memberships as well.

Private companies, including pharmaceuticals, also have a history of supporting broader initiatives geared at preventing and reducing chronic illness. A number of companies, for instance, sponsored the For Healthy Life forum in Kazan last October. They also participate in ongoing, long-term initiatives, including the Partnership to Fight Chronic Disease, a coalition of patients, providers, health policy experts, and community, business, and labor groups committed to fighting chronic disease,80 and the Campaign to End Obesity, sponsored by Johnson & Johnson, Pfizer, and Humana, among others. 81

TASK FORCE RECOMMENDATIONS

Promoting healthy lifestyles in both countries is critically important and will directly impact health and healthcare costs. The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of healthy lifestyles:

- 1. Focus on prevention and early detection. Prevention is a central factor in lowering noncommunicable disease rates, yet both the U.S. and Russian systems prioritize managing, rather than preventing, disease. The two healthcare systems are largely oriented toward expensive hospital services and treatment of acute cases, while early-stage disease control has been shown to be more beneficial for the patient and society. One way to promote preventive care is to encourage strong links among the medical community, NGOs, the private sector, community organizations, health policy leaders, and policymakers. Both countries can learn from each other.
- 2. Cooperate on a targeted action program designed to reduce the burden of cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular mortality. Cardiovascular disease and strokes account overwhelmingly for the major causes of premature mortality in both the United States and Russia. The principal risk factors behind this

record—cigarette smoking and unrecognized, untreated high blood pressure—are well understood and amenable to intervention. Both countries could benefit from a well-designed cooperative program to prevent and treat hypertension, especially one that utilizes the successful experience gained in other parts of the industrialized world, while pursuing a parallel strategy to reduce cigarette smoking.

- 2. **Continue cooperation on tobacco and alcohol control.** Smoking and alcohol consumption levels are particularly troubling in Russia. The United States has had some very important successes in reducing smoking rates and can share its experience with Russia.
- 3. **Develop joint programs to promote healthy eating, exercise, and healthy lifestyle choices.** The United States has had some success promoting the culture of fitness and healthy lifestyles. But most Russians do a better job of incorporating physical activity into their daily lives than Americans. The two countries can learn from one another in this area.

The task force recommended the following specific initiatives that the two countries could undertake collaboratively by any combination of private and public stakeholders:

- 1. Support existing initiatives and campaigns in both countries that are geared toward encouraging people to include exercise in their daily routines, such as Michelle Obama's Let's Move! initiative and the Health and Development Foundation.
- 2. Convene expert groups to discuss proper nutritional recommendations. An increasing amount of evidence points to the power of food to reverse heart disease, diabetes, and cancer and to slow down the aging process. Some studies show that intensive dietary changes can even reverse the progress of advanced type 2 diabetes in only twelve weeks.⁸²
- 3. Encourage legislative initiatives that discourage the use of alcohol and tobacco through increased excise taxes. Russia is in the process of implementing such policies, and the United States has had them in place for some time. Work with officials to introduce legislation at the regional level and provide enforcement incentives to police officers.
- 4. Initiate awareness campaigns about the harmful effects of tobacco at all levels of Russian society, including in the entertainment industry and with the help of public education campaigns. Existing efforts in Russia can be bolstered by U.S. knowledge of the most successful efforts in this regard.

- 5. Foster local and regional attempts to combat smoking and alcohol abuse. Russia's healthcare system is becoming increasingly decentralized, with key decisions being devolved to the local and regional levels. It is important to support local stakeholders who will bolster these efforts at the grassroots levels.
- 6. Conduct regional or state-based forums on the basis of regional best practices for preventing and slowing the progression of noncommunicable diseases with a focus on cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, diabetes, and cancer.
- 7. Develop anti-alcohol and anti-smoking programming geared toward youth. Encourage young Russians to initiate their own grassroots smoking and alcoholism prevention campaigns, including through the use of social media.
- 8. Involve pharmaceutical companies, healthcare providers, and the private sector generally to support and promote healthy lifestyles. Investigate known successes and failures of such engagement and use their best practices to form joint initiatives in both countries.
- 9. Enlist prominent international medical professionals to support a shift in Russia's focus from high-tech medical equipment and costly treatment procedures to healthy lifestyle promotion.
- 10. Engage private sector companies and NGOs in all government efforts geared toward promoting healthy lifestyles. This facilitates the building of communities and horizontal relationships, which will in turn ground the initiatives in grassroots efforts.
- 11. Create opportunities for impactful pilot projects that offer a comprehensive approach to addressing noncommunicable diseases with the highest prevalence and burden throughout the Russian Federation. The projects may have the following components:
 - A focused district- or regional-level approach, taking into account local needs
 - A half-day public advocacy event
 - One-day scientific and clinical site visits
 - Population studies to gather more precise relevant data
 - A three-day healthy lifestyles forum.

SCIENCE COOPERATION AND TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER SUBCOMMITTEE

AREAS OF FOCUS

U.S. research and development institutions have long enjoyed strong links with the commercial sector. This is most evident in Silicon Valley—the onetime agricultural area in the Santa Clara Valley south of San Francisco. It has become the global technological hub and is home to many U.S. technology giants.

There, the tight integration of Stanford University, established technology giants, and numerous venture capital firms, combined with a large pool of skilled labor, an ethos of free-wheeling enterprise, and government funding, has generated a unique culture of innovation that many governments around the world are now trying to replicate. Since the 1940s and 1950s, when high-tech firms such as Hewlett Packard and Varian Associates made the area around Stanford University their home, Silicon Valley has become an engine of industrial innovation and economic growth not just for California but for the entire United States. In the first quarter of 2009, fourth quarter of 2009, and first quarter of 2010, Silicon Valley received one-third of the total \$4.7 billion in venture capital invested in U.S.-based companies.⁸³ In 2010, as the U.S. economy experienced one of the worst economic recessions in decades, Silicon Valley's GDP grew by 13.4 percent. (By contrast, the U.S. GDP grew by 2.6 percent, while the GDP of the nearby cities of San Francisco and Oakland registered a bare 0.5 percent growth.)⁸⁴

Russia, for its part, has a formidable history of scientific advances, and U.S. venture capitalists and portfolio managers have long sought to commercialize these and bring them to market.⁸⁵ However, many in the Russian community have found the notion of scientific freedom incompatible with market demands. A certain fear persists that is a holdout from the past when scientific findings were held close to the chest and collaboration with foreign scientists was prohibited.

Scientific collaboration and technology transfer, however, is now a central goal of the Russian government. The Pharma-2020 program makes clear that modernization and innovation are Russia's strategic priorities. The latter are closely tied to the government's stated goal of turning science and technology into the new engines of economic growth.

In fact, a number of Russian government agencies are now empowered to fund research and technology-transfer initiatives. These include the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, RUSNANO, the Skolkovo Foundation, the Ministry of Health, the Ministry of Education and Science, and the Ministry of Industry and Trade.

Skolkovo

Over the last decade, Russia, along with many other countries, has closely studied the example of Silicon Valley in the United States. The Russian government is seeking to foster the culture of innovation that has made Silicon Valley famous throughout the world at the Skolkovo Innovation Center, which is being built on the outskirts of Moscow.

The strategic vision behind Skolkovo is to bring intellectual capital, startup capital, and potential commercial partners together under one roof, remove bureaucratic obstacles and red tape, and create a propitious legal and fiscal environment to incentivize the conceptualization and commercialization of new technologies. "At Skolkovo, we are assembling an impressive array of people and resources to address the most pressing healthcare issues today," said Dr. Chris Janssen, director for science and education in the biological and medical technologies cluster of the Skolkovo Foundation.⁸⁶

An important part of the Skolkovo mission is developing biomedical technologies. Representatives of Skolkovo's biomedical technologies cluster have been actively searching for successful partnerships in the areas of systems biology, translational medicine, bioinformatics, functional and structural genomics, and drug discovery.⁸⁷

Russian Investments in U.S. Biotechnology

Russia's \$9 billion state venture capital fund RUSNANO has made a splash over the last two years with its high-profile partnerships and investments in a series of U.S. biotech startup companies. RUSNANO's mission is to invest 20 percent of its funds in startup life-sciences companies, support technology transfer to Russia, and foster the growth of Russia's biopharmaceutical industry.

In 2011, RUSNANO invested \$94.50 million in two U.S.-based companies, BIND Biosciences and Selecta Biosciences, for the development of therapeutic nanoparticles in Russia. RUSNANO is working with BIND Biosciences to address solid tumors and inflammatory and cardiovascular diseases, and it is working with Selecta Biosciences to create a new class of targeted immunotherapies and vaccines for the treatment and prevention of cancer as well as respiratory, infectious, and autoimmune diseases. Both companies will open research and development centers in Russia as part of the deal.⁸⁸

Another beneficiary of RUSNANO's investment is Panacela Laboratories—a joint venture between RUSNANO and Cleveland BioLabs in collaboration with the Roswell Park Cancer Institute, the Children's Cancer Institute of Australia, and the Cleveland Clinic Foundation. It received \$25 million for oncology and the development of orphan drugs (pharmaceutical agents developed to treat a rare medical condition). RUSNANO also invested \$5 million in BiOptix Diagnostics. Rushand Rushand

In March 2012, RUSNANO partnered with U.S. venture capital fund Domain Associates to invest \$760 million in U.S. healthcare and pharmaceutical firms with the goal of bringing new drugs to the Russian market. The two partners have agreed to invest up to \$330 million each in the life-sciences companies in Domain's portfolio. They have also agreed to invest up to \$190 million in building a manufacturing facility in Russia for the products created by Domain companies to be sold in Eastern Europe. Under the agreement, roughly twenty existing and potentially new U.S.-based Domain portfolio companies will benefit from the collaboration. The partners can also co-invest in third-party technology.

In July 2012, the companies announced the first beneficiary: Domain's CoDa Therapeutics, a biopharmaceutical company focused on new technology for healing wounds. CoDa is licensing the rights to its technology to a Russia-based pharmaceutical company in exchange for \$40 million in financing. As part of the deal, as with all RUSNANO life-sciences investments, CoDa is to establish research and development operations in Russia. ⁹¹

In December 2012, RUSNANO and Domain announced that they would invest \$93 million in three additional U.S. firms: Marinus Pharmaceuticals, which is developing a treatment for epilepsy; Lithera, which is working in aesthetic medicine and ophthalmology; and Regado Biosciences, which is working on antithrombotic products.⁹²

In December 2012, the widely read *IN VIVO* blog nominated RUSNANO/Domain and CoDa Therapeutics for their Financing Deal of the Year Award. It noted that the deal "turns conventional wisdom on its head" by proving that emerging markets can, in fact, be a source of scientific and commercial innovation in the biopharmaceutical industry, rather than just a way to gain "near-term revenues and cost efficiencies." The blog remarked that, thanks to the deal, U.S. venture capitalists and biopharmaceutical companies are starting to take a closer look at Russia.⁹³

Meanwhile, U.S. pharmaceutical companies are moving forward with some of their investments in Russia. Pfizer announced in July 2012 that it was going to use the Russian research and development group ChemRar High-Tech Center to produce Pfizer's type 2 diabetes product.94 Simultaneously, Illinois-based Abbott Laboratories announced that it would be working with ChemRar's research institute to improve formulations of Abbott's existing drugs while pursuing new joint work on small molecular and viral disease treatments.⁹⁵ And at the high-profile 2012 BIO International Convention for Biotechnology in Boston, Merck Pharmaceuticals announced a deal with the Russian pharmaceutical company R-Pharm in which R-Pharm will have rights to develop and commercialize Merck's Hepatitis C inhibitor.96

Basic Research

While applied and translational research that translates in-the-lab findings into practical, real-word applications has been getting increasing funding and attention, funding for basic research projects, whose aim is to increase fundamental knowledge rather than offer immediate commercial benefits, has been harder to obtain. Joint U.S.-Russian basic research projects have also been slow to materialize.

Both sides must grapple with a simple lack of awareness of existing opportunities. The NIH reports having had low demand from Russian scientists for its grants. In fact, Russian scholars constituted only 1 percent of visiting scholars in the NIH Intramural Visiting Program in 2010—on par with Hungary, Turkey, and Poland and significantly below China (20 percent), India (13 percent), and Japan (9 percent).⁹⁷

One of the channels of funding for such research is the parallel funding agreement between the NIH and the Russian Foundation for Basic Research. The program awards grants for collaborative research projects in HIV/AIDS prevention sciences. For the most recent funding cycle, the Russian Foundation for Basic Research is contributing \$200,000 per project for two years, while NIH's share is \$275,000 per project for two years.98 Thirteen projects were selected through a bilateral peer review process and recommended for funding during the first funding cycle in 2012.99

The NIH National Institute on Drug Abuse and the NIH Office for AIDS Research have been particularly active in funding joint research projects in HIV/AIDS and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. This form of TB is a rising concern worldwide, and the problem is particularly acute in Russia and the former Soviet republics. In 2011, 400,000 new TB cases were registered in fifteen states of the former Soviet Union-40 times the number reported in the United States. Of these, 80,000 were drug resistant. A release from the United Nations stated that "tuberculosis has now gone from probably the most

dangerous infectious disease in the world to definitely the most dangerous infectious disease in the world. 100

Most recently, recipients of the NIH's National Institute on Drug Abuse grant evaluated the best combination of interventions for reducing the spread of TB in Russian prison populations. Included in the ongoing evaluation work is an assessment of a new TB diagnostic tool that instantly detects TB and its drug-resistant genetic mutations. Researchers predict that, assuming prisoners receive standard treatments, they can cut the prevalence of TB among inmates by 20 percent within four years.¹⁰¹

Until its departure from Russia, USAID supported projects aimed at TB prevention as well, sponsoring peer-to-peer exchanges in both countries.¹⁰²

Addressing Legal and Regulatory Challenges

Ongoing regulatory challenges, problems with Internet protocol protection, corruption, and red tape are stalling progress in science collaboration and technology transfer. One key issue is that Russian universities until recently could not own the results of their research.

This is now changing. In 2009, Moscow passed legislation giving Russian universities the right to own and commercialize technologies that result from their research. The United States took this important step in 1980 with the passage of the Bayh-Dole Act. Also known as the Patent and Trademark Law Amendments Act, this legislation granted U.S. universities control over intellectual property arising from federal-government-funded research. The second control of the second control over intellectual property arising from federal-government-funded research.

One of the projects built to support Russian universities in commercialization and technology transfer is the Enhancing University Research and Entrepreneurship Capacity project (EURECA). EURECA is a partnership between a select group of American and Russian universities that aims to build "a thriving ecosystem for advanced technology development and commercialization in Russia." EURECA's chief goals are "to support Russian universities in the integration of academic programs, scientific research, and entrepreneurial activities; to strengthen university science commercialization and technology transfer; and to involve universities in collaborations aimed at producing relevant solutions to problems." ¹¹⁰⁶

Intellectual property rights is another emerging area of cooperation for the two countries. Because innovation is central to its national agenda, Russia is taking an increasingly serious approach to this issue. A new intellectual property rights court is being established at Skolkovo, and in October 2012, Russia held an international anticounterfeiting forum with the participation of Prime Minister Medvedev and other top-level officials. ¹⁰⁷ The forum

addressed a wide variety of issues—from law enforcement to intellectual property concerns and the role of technology—as part of its mission to improve state policy in this area.

TASK FORCE RECOMMENDATIONS

Strengthening cooperation in biomedical research and innovation will be mutually beneficial for both countries. It is critical that the two sides find ways to enhance this cooperation. The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of science cooperation and technology transfer:

- 1. Continue cooperation on multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. The growth of multidrug-resistant TB worldwide has been one of the most important healthcarerelated trends in recent decades. Russia suffers from particularly high rates of the disease. Washington and Moscow can benefit from making cooperation in this area a priority.
- 2. Increase funding available for scientific research. Funding opportunities exist for scientific research, both joint and unilateral, on both sides, but they are limited and sometimes not well publicized. Increasing funding and improving information dissemination in the United States and Russia on policies and funding opportunities are essential to moving joint research projects forward.
- 3. Facilitate networking among scientists to stimulate collaborative research projects. Scientific collaboration depends in large measure on scientists designing collaborative projects based on their interests. Networking opportunities and bilateral meetings can help build relationships among scientists, physicians, grantmakers, government representatives, and other stakeholders.
- 4. **Develop new bilateral co-funding initiatives and programs.** Washington and Moscow must be equally invested in joint research projects. Joint funding opportunities should be developed through co-funding agreements. Public-private funding support should be tapped as well, relying on both U.S. and Russian philanthropic organizations partnering with pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical device, and information technology companies.

The task force recommended the following specific initiatives within this framework that the two countries could undertake collaboratively:

1. Set up a web portal for principal investigators—the lead scientists or engineers for a particular project—and business to include:

- Information on "business to academia" and "business to nonprofit" publicprivate models of collaboration
- Links to NIH funding opportunities
- Links to non-NIH funding opportunities
- Links to government of Russia funding opportunities
- Links to venture capital funding opportunities and information.
- 2. Increase support for education and training programs such as those established by EURECA and others to create more robust bilateral cooperation in scientific research. This may include:
 - Engaging and taking advantage of the services offered by the NIH Office of Intramural Research Training and Education
 - Expanding extramural training opportunities at universities and research centers across the United States to support their Russian colleagues
 - Developing and supporting cross-agency training programs in intellectual property and technology transfer among, for example, the NIH, the FDA, the Department of Commerce, and other agencies
 - Developing and supporting public-private partnerships in clinical research training
- 3. Pursue funding opportunities from the U.S. government and the government of Russia through co-funding agreements that are based on:
 - Peer-reviewed NIH competitive grants and other U.S. government resources
 - Competitive grants from the Russian Ministry of Science and Education, Ministry of Industry and Trade, Ministry of Health, and the Russian Foundation for Basic Research
 - Public-private funding support for government and business partnerships
 through U.S. and Russian philanthropic organizations (such as the Foundation
 for the National Institutes of Health, which raises private funds and creates
 public-private partnerships to support the mission of NIH) and by partnering
 with pharmaceutical, biotech, medical device, and information technology
 companies.

REGULATORY CONVERGENCE AND HARMONIZATION SUBCOMMITTEE

AREAS OF FOCUS

Regulatory harmonization refers to the development of guidelines that are streamlined, or harmonized, across different national standards to ensure the safety, quality, and efficacy of pharmaceuticals circulating on the market. It is widely viewed as beneficial, as it can reduce the time and resources needed for drug development, help avoid the duplication of many time-consuming and expensive test procedures, and help prevent duplication of clinical trials in humans. 108

Regulatory harmonization is a major challenge for foreign companies attempting to enter the Russian market. The rules governing Russia's import of drugs and medical devices are notoriously nontransparent, making it hard for U.S. companies to deliver much-needed drugs and devices to the Russian market.

Applying to be included in Russia's national drug list can also prove difficult. The lack of transparency and delays can prevent patients from receiving critical treatments as foreign drug manufacturers try to meet the system's requirements.¹⁰⁹

Regulatory convergence and harmonization is particularly important for successful cooperation in the pharmaceutical realm. It results in faster and more transparent review and approval processes; reduces the cost burden for pharmaceuticals, as a harmonized format makes for a less expensive documentation-preparation burden; and facilitates the entry of local industry into regional and global pharmaceutical markets. For the public, harmonization results in improved access to necessary medicines and increases trust that those medicines that have been approved meet high quality, safety, and efficacy standards. 110

Transitioning to International Standards

A key challenge that has prevented successful collaboration among Russian and U.S. pharmaceutical companies is Russia's lack of adherence to international standards known as good manufacturing practice, a production and testing practice that helps to ensure that a pharmaceutical product meets the standards appropriate to its intended use. GMP has been used to diminish the risks inherent in any pharmaceutical production, in particular cross-contamination with unexpected substances and confusion that may be caused by mislabeling.¹¹¹

Additional best-practice systems that are similar in their philosophy and intention to GMP include good laboratory practice for labs conducting nonclinical studies and good clinical practice for hospitals and clinicians conducting clinical studies on new drugs in humans.¹¹²

The best-known and most widely followed GMP standards are those developed by the World Health Organization, and GMP rules in the United States and the European Union closely cohere to those standards. One hundred and forty countries participate in the World Health Organization's GMP rules, but Russia has so far failed to meet the complex set of preconditions required for a country to join the system. These include availability of a state pharmaceuticals registration system, regular state inspection of pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities, and compliance of existing manufacturing facilities with the GMP requirements.

Under the Pharma-2020 program, Russia is committed to transitioning to GMP. By January 1, 2014, new GMP rules are expected to come into effect in Russia, enabling it to join the World Health Organization's system. ¹¹³ In the meantime, a series of administrative measures is being implemented, including the development of rules and regulations to ensure that the transition takes place.

But the cost of the transition will be high, and the process will likely take longer than anticipated. As of March 2011, only 10 percent of Russia's 1,100 production facilities were equipped in full compliance with GMP standards. Forty percent of facilities partially complied, and 50 percent did not comply at all. Some 10,000 personnel will have to be retrained. Regulatory authorities will have to be trained as well, in accordance with the Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention and Pharmaceutical Inspection Cooperation Scheme, two international bodies that provide active instruction in the GMP field.

The United States is already doing a great deal to support Russia's transition to GMP and GCP. The FDA is collaborating with its Russian counterpart, Roszdravnadzor, through discussions and experience-sharing exercises. The FDA has conducted a multiphase training program in GCP for Roszdravnadzor representatives, Roszdravnadzor's territorial counterparts, and ethics committees at universities and medical schools. In addition, private companies are conducting training sessions and supporting Russian pharmaceutical companies in getting their facilities up to GMP standards.

Clinical Trials

Pharmaceutical companies are also prioritizing the harmonization of industry-sponsored clinical trials. Companies have been expanding their trial sites from traditional locations in North America and Western Europe to other parts of the globe, choosing locations based on the opportunity to reduce costs and accelerate the growth of their market share.¹¹⁵ Russia has become one of the most rapidly growing non-Western sites for industry-sponsored clinical trials.

One of the reasons behind this is the fact that Russia and the United States do not currently have a mutual clinical trial recognition agreement. Furthermore, in 2010, Russia passed a law mandating that any foreign drug to be marketed in Russia also be tested on Russian citizens. This complicates and raises the costs of market entry. But it also provides access to new groups of patients, which can be beneficial for pharmaceutical companies as they develop new products.

Russian patients have been actively enrolling in clinical trials—in part because participating in the trial is, for some, the only way to receive medical care. 116 The number of clinical trials in Russia increased from 201 in the first six months of 2011 to 448 in the same period in 2012—an increase of 123 percent.¹¹⁷

Medical Devices

Medical devices are among the top U.S. exports to Russia, but the quantity exported is still paltry. Regulation is complex and involves a number of different regulatory authorities, including Roszdravnadzor, Gosstandart, and Rospotrebnadzor.

Russia has benefited in this regard from its membership in the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation, which helps its member economies develop robust regulatory systems for medical devices.¹¹⁸ These systems may serve as a model to help U.S. medical-device manufacturers establish productive relationships with their Russian counterparts.

TASK FORCE RECOMMENDATIONS

Regulatory convergence and harmonization across national standards is critical to ensuring that both countries can cooperate effectively in the area of pharmaceutical development. Without harmonized regulatory frameworks, the delivery of critically important medicines to patients and the development of new pharmaceuticals will be delayed.

The task force made the following priority recommendations in the area of regulatory convergence and harmonization:

- 1. Create a platform for ongoing U.S.-Russian regulatory cooperation. While the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the Russian regulatory agency Roszdravnadzor have formed a collaborative relationship through mutual visits, training, and capacity-building programs, a more solid platform for ongoing dialogue is needed. The example of the European Commission, whose regulatory agencies conduct twice-yearly meetings with their Russian counterparts to ensure that current issues are regularly addressed, may be instructive in this regard and should be studied.
- 2. Support the Russian pharmaceutical industry's move to good manufacturing practice standards. This is a critical precondition for Russia to build up its own competitive pharmaceutical sector. Russia has committed to move to good manufacturing practice standards, but it will require resources and know-how. The U.S. government and private companies have both, and they should become actively engaged in Russia's transition.
- 3. Lay the groundwork for mutual recognition of clinical trials conducted in the United States and Russia. A bilateral agreement on the mutual recognition of clinical trials conducted in the two countries would increase both international pharmaceutical investments in Russia and drug access for Russian citizens.

The task force recommended the following specific initiatives for the two countries to undertake collaboratively:

- 1. Encourage the private sector and civil society to sustain the momentum of public-private partnership to support harmonization efforts during times that often prove unfavorable for cooperation, such as political transitions.
- 2. Facilitate exchanges among health professionals and specialists in Russia and the United States through academic symposia, regional site visits, and small-scale pilot projects.
- 3. Introduce recommendations on pharmaceutical quality, cost structures, and competition.
- 4. Facilitate transparency with regard to the "dry list" of products set aside for local manufacturing.

- 5. Form a U.S. expert group to collaborate and advise the Russian government on establishing guidelines for clinical standards. Russia is still developing such standards and can benefit from the United States' significant experience in this area.
- 6. Ensure that standards for medical care reflect current understandings of the biological basis for disease and peer-reviewed scientific evidence of the effectiveness of treatments. Guidelines should account for the inevitable variability among patients and the idiosyncratic character of treatments and, therefore, permit appropriate flexibility in their application. The United States and Russia should work together to study the role of private, professional organizations alongside government bodies responsible for guideline development.
- 7. Move toward attaining some level of bilateral regulatory harmonization by encouraging regulatory agencies in Russia and the United States to focus on collaborating to harmonize procedures aimed at the review (including ethical review), approval, registration, and follow-through monitoring of clinical trials.
- 8. Promote collaboration between regulatory agencies in Russia and the United States to harmonize legislation pertaining to the conduct of clinical research for nonpharmaceutical medical products.
- 9. Encourage the private sector to contribute expertise in the organization and conduct of clinical trials of medical devices and interventional procedures.
- 10. Sustain collaboration of the U.S.-Russia Working Group on Rare Diseases that was established under the U.S.-Russia Health Forum.
- 11. Provide access to lifesaving and life-extending drugs from foreign pharmaceutical companies to the many people in Russia who cannot obtain them because of regulatory barriers. Harmonized regulation and collaboration on orphan drugs could allow these drugs to enter the market.
- 12. Facilitate rare disease biomedical research and education as well as the creation of an orphan drugs regulatory framework and orphan drug legislation.
- 13. Develop an agreement on the mutual recognition of clinical research data on orphan drugs.
- 14. Collaborate on a platform for developing a strong, science-based regulatory pathway for biosimilars—pharmaceutical formulations that are based on licensed biotechnology medicines. Biotechnology medicines are derived from a biological

source, rather than as a product of chemical synthesis. Like generics, biosimilars are cheaper to produce than the original, licensed formulations, which makes them an attractive cost-saving option. However, they are far more complex than generics, and their use raises a host of new issues, including quality and safety, and relevant regulatory and legal issues. Biotechnology medicines and biosimilars are a new phenomenon globally, and all countries where they are used struggle with these concerns. Russia and the European Union are further ahead in this dialogue. The United States and Russia would benefit from creating their own forum for discussing these issues and paving the way for global solutions to these issues. Among the areas they can address are creating unified regulatory guidelines concerning the data required for the approval of biosimilars, including guidelines on quality, nonclinical and clinical issues as well as product-specific guidelines, and agreeing upon safety standards for all biotechnology medicines.

CONCLUSION

The latent potential of U.S.-Russian engagement in public health is significant. From enhanced scientific cooperation to the joint promotion of healthier lifestyles to developing new investment avenues, deeper bilateral engagement in this area would benefit the two countries and the world.

Some aspects of this cooperation are already breaking new ground. RUSNANO's extensive investments in the United States have defied conventional wisdom by demonstrating that Russia can be the one investing in global industry and that it can do so through creative, win-win approaches. And the new multidrug-resistant TB testing device that was developed by NIH-sponsored American scientists working with their Russian colleagues could have a meaningful impact on containing the disease not just in Russia but around the globe.

Reaching the full potential of this collaboration will require ongoing commitment and political will. That is where the BPC Working Group on Health should take the lead. The BPC should be proactive in driving the dialogue forward and making sure the two governments continue to engage with one another, while also inviting the private sector, NGOs, the scientific and professional community, and other stakeholders to the table. Only such

multisectoral engagement can provide all the ingredients—political will, resources, technological know-how, and local knowledge—necessary to move cooperation forward.

The BPC Working Group on Health must continue to focus on outcomes. It is important that it maintain this course unwaveringly, following through on initiatives and turning ideas into action.

Finally, the BPC should not be afraid of bold steps. Many of the problems that have consistently plagued the two countries' healthcare systems may yet be solved by stepping back, taking a big-picture view, and engaging in some truly creative thinking. Ongoing dialogue and sharing of ideas may provide fertile ground for the kinds of insights and creative approaches that could give rise to such solutions. Cooperation between the public and private sectors is critical to achieve that.

The recommendations outlined in this report are meant to help unleash the full potential inherent in U.S.-Russian public health cooperation. The BPC possesses the necessary clout to make this happen. Its Working Group on Health should use it to lead the two countries forward.

ABOUT THE PUBLIC-PRIVATE TASK FORCE ON U.S.-RUSSIAN HEALTH COOPERATION

Critical task force funding came from the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America, a trade group representing leading American pharmaceutical research and biotechnology companies, and the Richard Lounsbery Foundation, which aims to enhance national U.S. science and technology capabilities, international scientific cooperation, and science diplomacy.

APPENDIX: TASK FORCE PARTICIPANTS

The following individuals participated in various task force activities:

- 1. John Steele, Eli Lilly, task force co-chair
- 2. Nikolai Gerasimenko, State Duma Committee for Science and High Technology, task force co-chair
- 3. Joshua Abrams, Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids
- 4. Tiffany Atwell, Abbott Laboratories
- 5. Mateo M. Ayala, U.S. Embassy, Moscow
- 6. Edward J. Burger, Institute for Health Policy Analysis
- 7. Cathleen A. Campbell, CRDF Global
- 8. Bram Caplan, Skolkovo Institute of Science and Technology
- 9. James Carden, U.S. Department of State
- 10. James Class, Merck & Co., Inc.
- 11. Nils Daulaire, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
- 12. Elena Dmitrieva, Healthy Russia Foundation
- 13. Irina Dorokhova, Johnson & Johnson
- 14. Carly Dougherty, Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids
- 15. Jeffrey Ellis, U.S. Department of State

- 16. Harvey Fineberg, Institute of Medicine
- 17. Anne Finley, Celgene Corporation
- 18. Sergey A. Georgievskiy, National Foundation for Prevention of Cruelty to Children
- 19. Tatiana Gremyakova, International Science and Technology Center
- 20. Rita Guenther, National Academy of Sciences
- 21. Mark Gul, U.S. Embassy, Moscow
- 23. Trevor Gunn, Medtronic, Inc.
- 24. Jonathan Hale, United States Agency for International Development
- 25. Peter Hartsock, National Institute for Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health
- 26. Paul Holmes, United States Agency for International Development
- 27. Val Kogan, Mid-Atlantic-Russia Business Council
- 28. Arsen Kubataev, Worldwide Clinical Trials, Inc.
- 29. Ilona Kuraskua, Genzyme Corporation
- 30. Alexei Kuznetsov, Russian State Duma
- 31. Olga Levina, Stellit
- 32. Randi Levinas, U.S.-Russia Business Council
- 33. Marya Levintova, National Institutes of Health
- 34. Gary Litman, U.S. Chamber of Commerce
- 35. Mary Lisa Madell, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
- 36. Eduard Malayan, U.S.-Russia Bilateral Presidential Commission
- 37. Edyta Malinowski, GlaxoSmithKline
- 38. Sophia Michaelson, American Russian Cancer Alliance
- 39. Paul Moen, Amgen Inc.
- 40. Olga Morozova, Eli Lilly-Russia

- 41. Matthew L. Myers, Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids
- 42. John Peel, United States Industry Coalition, Inc.
- 43. Alexey Petrenko, Amway
- 44. Claudia Poteet, Pfizer, Inc.
- 45. Andrew Rudman, Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA)
- 46. Igor Rukavishnikov, Genzyme Corporation
- 47. Francine Salamone, Pfizer, Inc.
- 48. Nikolay Savchuk, ChemRar High-Tech Center
- 49. Amy Schultz, U.S. Senate
- 50. Glenn Schweitzer, National Academy of Sciences
- 51. Gerson Sher, United States Industry Coalition, Inc.
- 52. Sergey Shishkin, National Research University, Higher School of Economics
- 53. Sevil Salakhutdinova, World Bank
- 54. Evgeniy Slastnykh, Russian Ministry of Health and Social Development
- 55. David Swalley, U.S. Department of State
- 56. Viktor A. Tutelyan, Russian Academy of Medical Sciences
- 57. Kirill Tverskoy, Pfizer, Inc.
- 58. Judyth Twigg, Virginia Commonwealth University
- 59. Dmitry Yanin, Interrepublican Confederation of Consumer Societies
- 60. Vladimir Zelensky, Russian Ministry of Health and Social Development

NOTES

- Judyth Twigg, U.S.-Russia Collaboration on Health: Moving Toward Engagement, A Report of 1 the CSIS Global Health Policy Center (Washington, D.C.: CSIS, July 2009), http://csis.org/ files/publication/090730_Twigg_USRussiaCollaboration.pdf.
- 2 Matthew Rojansky, Indispensable Institutions: The Obama-Medvedev Commission and Five Decades of U.S.-Russia Dialogue (Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2010), 5, www.carnegieendowment.org/files/indispensable_institutions.pdf.
- 3 Twigg, U.S.-Russia Collaboration on Health.
- "USAID in Russia," USAID From the American People website, September 18, 2012, 4 www.usaid.gov/news-information/fact-sheets/usaid-russia, www.usaid.gov/where-we-work/ europe-and-eurasia/russia.
- 5 Sieghart Dittmann et al., "Successful Control of Epidemic Diphtheria in the States of the Former Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: Lessons Learned," Journal of Infectious Diseases, vol. 181, issue supplement 1 (2000): S10-S22, http://jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/181/Supplement_1/ S10.long.
- Joint Report of the 8th Health Committee Meeting of the U.S.-Russia Commission on Economic and Technological Cooperation, Washington, D.C., March 23, 1999.
- William H. Cooper, Permanent and Normal Trade Relations Status for Russia and U.S.-Russian Economic Ties (Washington, D.C.: Congressional Research Service, June 13, 2011).
- 8 United States Trade Representative, "President Obama's Signature Paves Way for Permanent Normal Trade Relations With Russia and Moldova," USTR website, August 2012, www.ustr. gov/russia.
- Courtney Weaver, "Healthcare Investors Eye Deal With Moscow," Financial Times, April 4, 2012, www.ft.com/cms/s/0/9abf8d12-7e72-11e1-b20a-00144feab49a.html#axzz2ECEInbiH.
- PhRMA, "Russia PNTR Benefits for the U.S. Biopharmaceutical Industry," press release, February 2012, www.usrussiatrade.org/documents/Russia%20PNTR%20One-Pager%20-%20 PhRMA.pdf.
- USTR, "President Obama's Signature Paves Way." 11
- 12 Rojansky, Indispensable Institutions, 19-20.
- September 24, 2012, task force meeting; see also Coalition for U.S.-Russia Trade, "Russia PNTR Benefits for the U.S. Biopharmaceutical Industry."
- Larry Liebert, "Russia Ending USAID Programs, State Department Says," Bloomberg, September 18, 2012, www.bloomberg.com/news/2012-09-18/russia-ending-usaid-programsstate-department-says.html.
- Rojansky, *Indispensable Institutions*, 15–16.

- 16 Joint Report of the 8th Health Committee Meeting of the U.S.-Russia Commission on Economic and Technological Cooperation.
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 Rojansky, Indispensable Institutions, 23–25.
- 19 Ibid., 29–30.
- 20 Quoted in James F. Collins and Matthew Rojansky, "An Enduring Approach to U.S.-Russian Cooperation: Make Permanent the Bilateral Presidential Commission," Policy Outlook, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, July 27, 2011, 4, http://carnegieendowment.org/files/bpc_permanent.pdf.
- White House, "Memorandum of Understanding on Cooperation in the Field of Public Health and Medical Sciences," press release, July 6, 2009, www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/FACT-SHEET-Memorandum-of-Understanding-on-Cooperation-in-the-Field-of-Public-Health-and-Medical-Sciences.
- 22 U.S.-Russia Bilateral Presidential Commission, *2012 Joint Report* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of State, 2012), 4, www.state.gov/documents/organization/187041.pdf.
- 23 Ibid., 25–26.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Kathleen Sebelius, speech given at the First Global Ministerial Conference on Healthy Lifestyles and Non-communicable Disease Control, Moscow, Russia, April 28, 2011, www. hhs.gov/secretary/about/speeches/sp20110428.html.
- 27 Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, "OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Russian Federation, 2012," 11, 13.
- 28 Ibid., 88.
- 29 Oleg Atkov and Guzel Ulumbekova, "Health and Health Care in Russia Today and Tomorrow," in *Russia: The Challenges of Transformation*, edited by Piotr Dutkiewicz and Dmitri Trenin (New York and London: New York University Press, 2011), 248.
- 30 Ibid., 255.
- Constitution of the Russian Federation, Chapter 2, "Rights and Freedoms of Man and Citizen," www.constitution.ru/en/10003000-03.htm.
- 32 OECD, "OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Russian Federation, 2012," 35, 47.
- Marius Gamser, "Putin Talks Russian Healthcare Reform," *International Insurance News*, April 19, 2011, www.globalsurance.com/blog/putin-talks-russia-healthcare-reform-342720.html.
- 34 "Priority National Project Health" (Russian), Federal Health Service of the Government of the Russian Federation website, www.roszdravnadzor.ru/gos_programs/health.
- Tom Parfitt, "Russia Releases Draft Healthcare Plan," *Lancet*, vol. 373, issue 9658 (January 2009): 109–110, www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2809% 2960021-0/fulltext.
- 36 "Strategy for the Development of the Pharmaceutical Industry of the Russian Federation for the Period Until 2020" (Russian), Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation website, www.minpromtorg.gov.ru/ministry/strategic/sectoral/7.
- 37 Clayton Christensen, Jerome Grossman, and Jason Hwang, *The Innovator's Prescription: A Disruptive Solution for Healthcare* (New York: McGraw-Hill, December 4, 2008), 149.

- Mark Hyman, "Pharmageddon: Can a New Weight Loss Drug Really Save Us?" Huffington Post, February 27, 2012, www.huffingtonpost.com/dr-mark-hyman/qnexa_b_1303050.html.
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, National Health Expenditures tables, www.cms. gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealth ExpendData/downloads/tables.pdf; Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, National Health Expenditure Projections 2010-2020, www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/downloads/proj2010.pdf; and World Bank, World Development Indicators database, July 1, 2011, http://siteresources. worldbank.org/DATASTATISTICS/Resources/GDP.pdf.
- U.S. Energy Information Administration, Annual Energy Review 2011, September 2012, 13, www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/annual/pdf/aer.pdf.
- "Nikolai Gerasimenko nameren izmenit' myshlenie rossiianv oblasti zdoro'ia" (Nikolai Gersimenko intends to change Russians' thinking about healthcare), Altai Regnum News Agency, October 15, 2012, http://altai.regnum.ru/news/1582150.html.
- "Deputat Gosudarstvennoi Dumy ot Altaiskogo kraya Nikolai Gerasimenko prinyal uchastie v mezhdunarodnom forume 'Za zdorovuiu zhizn'" (Duma Member from Altaiskii Krai Nikolai Gerasimenko takes part in International Forum "For Healthy Lifestyles"), Zdravalt, catid=2&Itemid=244.
- Annie Lowrey, "Study of U.S. Health Care System Finds Both Waste and Opportunity to Improve," New York Times, September 11, 2012, www.nytimes.com/2012/09/12/health/policy/ waste-and-promise-seen-in-us-health-care-system.html?_r=0.
- "The Patient Centered Medical Home & Specialty Physicians," American College of Physicians website, www.acponline.org/running_practice/delivery_and_payment_models/pcmh/understanding/specialty_physicians.htm.
- National Research Council, Best Care at Lower Cost: The Path to Continuously Learning Health Care in America (Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press, September 6, 2012), http:// iom.edu/Reports/2012/Best-Care-at-Lower-Cost-The-Path-to-Continuously-Learning-Health-Care-in-America.aspx.
- 46 "Accountable Care Organizations: Improving Care Coordination for People With Medicare," Healthcare.gov, March 31, 2011, www.healthcare.gov/news/factsheets/2011/03/ accountablecare03312011a.html.
- Ed Wallace, "Health Care in Crisis: Overmedicating America," Business Week, July 28, 2009, www.businessweek.com/stories/2009-07-28/health-care-in-crisis-overmedicatingamericabusinessweek-business-news-stock-market-and-financial-advice.
- Craig J. Currie et al., "Mortality and Other Important Diabetes-Related Outcomes With Insulin vs Other Antihyperglycemic Therapies in Type 2 Diabetes," Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, vol. 98, issue 2 (February 2013): 668, http://jcem.endojournals. org/content/98/2/668.
- 49 Annie L. Culver et al., "Statin Use and Risk of Diabetes Mellitus in Postmenopausal Women in the Women's Health Initiative," Archives of Internal Medicine, vol. 172, issue 2 (January 23, 2012): 144-52, http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=1108676.
- James Dao, Benedict Carey, and Dan Frosch, "For Some Troops, Powerful Drug Cocktails Have Deadly Results," New York Times, February 12, 2011, www.nytimes.com/2011/02/13/ us/13drugs.html?pagewanted=all.

- 51 H. Gilbert Welch, "If You Feel O.K., Maybe You Are O.K.," *New York Times*, February 27, 2012, www.nytimes.com/2012/02/28/opinion/overdiagnosis-as-a-flaw-in-health-care.html, and H. Gilbert Welch, "Cancer Survivor or Victim of Overdiagnosis?" *New York Times*, November 21, 2012, www.nytimes.com/2012/11/22/opinion/cancer-survivor-or-victim-of-overdiagnosis.html.
- 52 "V. Skvortsova: Poka ya glava Minzdrava, meditsina budet v osnovnom besplatnoi" (V. Skvortsova: While I'm running the Ministry of Health, medicine will mostly be free), RBC, November 8, 2012, http://top.rbc.ru/economics/08/11/2012/824028.shtml.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 See Medicare website, www.medicare.gov/sign-up-change-plans/get-drug-coverage/get-drug-coverage.html.
- 55 Teresa A. Keenan, "Prescription Drugs and Medicare Part D: A Report on Access, Satisfaction, and Cost," AARP, November 2007, 1, http://assets.aarp.org/rgcenter/health/rx medicared.pdf.
- 56 Christensen, The Innovator's Prescription, 150.
- 57 Atkov and Ulumbekova, "Health and Health Care in Russia Today and Tomorrow," 255.
- 58 OECD, "OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Russian Federation, 2012," 47.
- 59 Ibid., 17.
- 60 Ibid., 92.
- 61 First Global Ministerial Conference on Healthy Lifestyles and Noncommunicable Disease Control, "Moscow Declaration," WHO, April 2011, www.who.int/nmh/events/moscow_ncds_2011/conference_documents/moscow_declaration_en.pdf.
- 62 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Adult Obesity Facts," CDC website, August 13, 2012, www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html.
- 63 "The Epidemic of Childhood Obesity," Let's Move website, www.letsmove.gov/learn-facts/epidemic-childhood-obesity.
- Note that U.S. and Russian obesity measurement algorithms may differ. Atkov and Ulumbekova, "Health and Health Care in Russia Today and Tomorrow," 252.
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 Hyman, "Pharmageddon."
- 67 Ibid.
- 68 "OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Russian Federation, 2012," 80.
- 69 Ibid.
- 70 Ibid., 24.
- 71 "Russia Slaps Ban on Alcohol Advertising in Media," BBC News, July 23, 2012, www.bbc. co.uk/news/world-europe-18960770.
- 72 Steve Gutterman, "Putin Signs Law to Curb Smoking, Tobacco Sales in Russia," Reuters, February 25, 2013, www.reuters.com/article/2013/02/25/us-russia-smoking-idUSBRE 91O0AU20130225.
- 73 September 24, 2012, task force meeting.
- 74 "Russia Should Be Hiking Alcohol Tax More—Deputy PM," Reuters, August 2, 2012, www. reuters.com/article/2012/08/02/russia-beer-idUSL6E8J2H4I20120802.
- 75 Aleksandra Kreknina and Elizaveta Nikitina, "S Iyulya vodka mozhet podorozhat' pochti na 30%" (Starting in July, the price of vodka may increase by nearly 30 percent), *Vedomosti*, May 28, 2012, www.vedomosti.ru/companies/news/1791762/c_iyulya_butylka_vodki_mozhet_podorozhat_do_125_rub#ixzz1wF7XGuO3.

- "Russia Should Be Hiking Alcohol Tax."
- 77 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Physical Activity and Health," CDC website, www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/everyone/health/index.html.
- 78 "Play 60," National Football League website, www.nfl.com/play60.
- 79 Healthy and Development Foundation website, www.fzr-eng.ru/aboutus.
- Partnership to Fight Chronic Disease website, www.fightchronicdisease.org. 80
- 81 Campaign to End Obesity website, www.obesitycampaign.org/obesity_about_us.asp.
- 82 Hyman, "Pharmageddon."
- 83 PricewaterhouseCoopers and National Venture Capital Association, "Money Tree Report," Q1 2010 U.S. Results, 5, www.pwcmoneytree.com/MTPublic/ns/moneytree/filesource/exhibits/ Q1%202010%20MoneyTree%20Report.pdf.
- 84 Steven E. F. Brown, "Booming Silicon Valley GDP Growth Leaves San Francisco Behind, San Francisco Business Times, September 13, 2011, www.bizjournals.com/sanfrancisco/news/2011/ 09/13/booming-silicon-valley-gdp-growth.html?page=all.
- Kenneth Rapoza, "Russia's High Tech Promise," Forbes, August 22, 2011, www.forbes.com/ sites/kenrapoza/2011/08/22/russias-high-tech-promise.
- 86 "Skolkovo Foundation's Biomedical Team Visits Boston & Silicon Valley," Skolkovo Foundation Press Release, via Business Wire News Releases, http://finance.boston.com/boston/news/read? GUID=21625535.
- 87 "Skolkovo Foundation's Biomedical Team Visits Boston & Silicon Valley," BusinessWire, June 21, 2012, www.businesswire.com/news/home/20120621005221/en/Skolkovo-Foundation%E2%80%99s-Biomedical-Team-Visits-Boston-Silicon.
- John Carroll, "Russian Fund Leads \$94.5M Investment in Two Langer Biotechs," Fierce Biotech, October 27, 2011, www.fiercebiotech.com/story/russian-fund-leads-945minvestment-two-langer-biotechs/2011-10-27.
- 89 Panacela Labs website, www.panacelalabs.com.
- BiOptix website, www.bioptixinc.com/company. 90
- Wendy Diller, "Financing Deal of the Year Nominee: RUSNANO/Domain and CoDa 91 Therapeutics," December 20, 2012, http://en.rusnano.com/press-centre/media/20121220financing-deal-of-year-nominee.
- 92 Megan Davies and Douglas Busvine, "Russia Fund in Consortium to Back U.S. Pharma Firms," RUSNANO website, December 20, 2012, http://en.rusnano.com/press-centre/media/ 20121220-us-russia-pharmaceuticals.
- 93 Wendy Diller, "Financial Deal of the Year Nominee: Rusnano/Domain and CoDa Therapeutics," InVivo blog, December 19, 2012, http://invivoblog.blogspot.com/2012/12/financing-deal-ofyear-nominee.html.
- 94 Ryan McBride, "Pfizer Inks Licensing Deal With Russia's SatRx for Diabetes Drug," Fierce Biotech, July 6, 2012, www.fiercebiotech.com/story/pfizer-inks-licensing-deal-russias-satrxdiabetes-drug/2012-07-06.
- 95 Kevin Grogan, "Abbott Signs Up for R&D Projects in Russia," Pharma Times Online, July 10, 2012, www.pharmatimes.com/article/12-07-10/Abbott_signs_up_for_R_D_ projects_in_Russia.aspx.
- 96 Joshua Berlin, "Busy Month: Russia Looks To Localization, Technology Transfer to Spur Innovation (Part 2 of 2), PharmAsia News, July 11, 2012, www.bio2012.ru/en/news/40.

- 97 Fogarty International Center (NIH).
- 98 December 12, 2012, task force meeting.
- 99 "Health: Past Events," U.S. Department of State website, www.state.gov/p/eur/ci/rs/usrussiabilat/c42534.htm.
- 100 Quoted in a task force participant email, referencing a January 11, 2012, United Nations Dispatch.
- 101 Adam Gorlick, "Stanford Researchers Show a Better Way to Curb TB Where the Disease Is Rampant," *FSI Stanford, CHP/PCOR News*, November 27, 2012, http://healthpolicy.stanford.edu/news/stanford_researchers_show_a_better_way_to_curb_tb_where_the_disease_is_rampant_20121127.
- 102 "Health: Past Events."
- 103 Goldie Blumenstyk, "In New Project, Russian Universities Tap American Expertise in Tech Transfer," *Chronicle*, September 30, 2010, http://chronicle.com/article/In-New-Project-Russian/124657.
- 104 "The Bayh-Dole Act: A Guide to the Law and Implementing Regulations," Council on Governmental Relations, October 1999, http://ora.ra.case.edu/techtransfer/forms/bayh_dole.pdf.
- 105 Blumenstyk, "In New Project, Russian Universities Tap American Expertise in Tech Transfer."
- 106 American Councils for International Education, EURECA Interim Report 2011, www. americancouncils.org/documents/1017ac013012092222_5085.pdf.
- 107 First International Forum on Anti-Counterfeiting 2012 website, http://en.forum-antikontrafakt.ru/direct-speech.
- 108 "International Conference on Harmonisation," IFPMA website, www.ifpma.org/quality/regulatory-harmonization.html.
- 109 September 24, 2012, task force meeting.
- 110 Nicholas Cappuccino, "Global Trends in Regulatory Harmonization," U.S.-Algeria Health Forum & Expo, June 2011, www.us-algeria.org/presentations/PRESENTATION%20 2011%20health%20cappuccino.pdf.
- 111 World Health Organization, "WHO Good Manufacturing Practices: Main Principles for Pharmaceutical Products," 17, http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2004/9241546190_part1.pdf.
- 112 Ibid.
- 113 Tatiana Kublitskaya and Anna Shipkova, "Russia to Follow European Path," Pharmexpert, March 24, 2011.
- 114 Ibid.
- 115 Fabio A. Thiers, Anthony J. Sinskey and Ernst R. Berndt, "Trends in the Globalization of Clinical Trials," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, November 2, 2007, 1, www.hphci.org/content/pdf/Trends%20in%20the%20globalization%20of%20clinical%20trials Nature%202007.pdf.
- 116 Andrew E. Kramer, "Russians Eagerly Participate in Medical Experiments, Despite Risks," *New York Times*, September 26, 2012, www.nytimes.com/2012/09/27/business/global/russians-eagerly-participating-in-medical-experiments-despite-risks.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0.
- 117 Ibid.
- 118 Susan Lamph, "Regulation of Medical Devices Outside the European Union," *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, vol. 105, no. suppl. 1 (April 2012): S12–S21, http://jrsm.rsmjournals.com/content/105/suppl_1/S12.full.

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace is a private, nonprofit organization dedicated to advancing cooperation between nations and promoting active international engagement by the United States. Founded in 1910, its work is nonpartisan and dedicated to achieving practical results.

Carnegie is pioneering the first global think tank, with flourishing offices now in Washington, Moscow, Beijing, Beirut, and Brussels. These five locations include the centers of world governance and the places whose political evolution and international policies will most determine the near-term possibilities for international peace and economic advance.

The Carnegie Russia and Eurasia Program has, since the end of the Cold War, led the field of Eurasian security, including strategic nuclear weapons and nonproliferation, development, economic and social issues, governance, and the rule of law.

THE GLOBAL THINK TANK

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT

FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE

CarnegieEndowment.org